

UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL PAULISTA "JÚLIO DE MESQUITA FILHO" Câmpus de São José do Rio Preto

Mohammed Anas Zaiter

Assessment of tolerance to inhibitors derived from plant biomass hydrolysis and xylose consumption by yeasts isolated from the environment

São José do Rio Preto

2022

Mohammed Anas Zaiter

# Assessment of tolerance to inhibitors derived from plant biomass hydrolysis and xylose consumption by yeasts isolated from the environment

Dissertação apresentada como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de Mestre em Microbiologia, junto ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Microbiologia, do Instituto de Biociências, Letras e Ciências Exatas da Universidade Estadual Paulista "Júlio de Mesquita Filho", Câmpus de São José do Rio Preto/SP.

Financiadora: CAPES

Orientador: Dr. Ronivaldo Rodrigues da Silva

São José do Rio Preto 2022

# Z21a

Zaiter, Mohammed Anas

Assessment of tolerance to inhibitors derived from plant biomass hydrolysis and xylose consumption by yeasts isolated from the environment / Mohammed Anas Zaiter. -- São José do Rio Preto, 2024 99 f.

Dissertação (mestrado) - Universidade Estadual Paulista (Unesp), Instituto de Biociências Letras e Ciências Exatas, São José do Rio Preto

Orientador: Ronivaldo Rodrigues da Silva

1. Microbiologia industrial. 2. Fermentação. 3. Leveduras. 4. Xilose. 5. Bioetanol. I. Título.

Sistema de geração automática de fichas catalográficas da Unesp. Biblioteca do Instituto de Biociências Letras e Ciências Exatas, São José do Rio Preto. Dados fornecidos pelo autor(a).

Mohammed Anas Zaiter

## Assessment of tolerance to inhibitors derived from plant biomass hydrolysis and xylose consumption by yeasts isolated from the environment

Dissertação apresentada como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de Mestre em Microbiologia, junto ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Microbiologia, do Instituto de Biociências, Letras e Ciências Exatas da Universidade Estadual Paulista "Júlio de Mesquita Filho", Câmpus de São José do Rio Preto/SP.

Financiadora: CAPES

## Comissão Examinadora

Dr. Ronivaldo Rodrigues da Silva UNESP – Câmpus de São José do Rio Preto/SP Orientador

Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Tatiane Beltramini Souto Instituto Federal de Minas Gerais, Passos/MG

Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Gabriela Salvador de Amo Instituto Federal de São Paulo, Catanduva/SP

> São José do Rio Preto 21 de fevereiro de 2022

#### **DEDICATION**

To my mother, Safaa, for her never-ending desire to provide a better future for her children,

To my father, Tayser, for being the voice of reason and supporting me on my path,

To my wife, Alaa, for standing by my side on the journey of life,

To my daughters, Safa and Mariam, for giving me a reason to keep going,

To my keenly supportive brothers and sister, for their love and affection,

Without you all, I wouldn't be the person I am today.

Thank you.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful for the opportunity to be a part of the Postgraduate Program in Microbiology at the Institute of Biosciences, Letters, and Exact Sciences, São Paulo State University. It has, frankly, been the right place for me, both professionally and personally. I have appreciated the collaborative and supportive environment.

I am grateful to Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Eleni Gomes, Prof. Dr. Roberto da Silva, and Prof. Dr. Mauricio Boscolo for providing materials, instruments, infrastructure, and the environment conducive to scientific research.

I am most grateful to my advisor, supervisor, and mentor, Dr. Ronivaldo Rodrigues da Silva, who taught me the basics of microbiological laboratory and scientific research and showed me the way to become an independent thinker. He has been both patient and lenient when things have been arduous, but has always encouraged me to complete the work to the fullest.

For this work to see the light, I thank my committee members, Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Tatiane Beltramini Souto and Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Gabriela Salvador de Amo, for their intellectual guidance, efforts, and support throughout this process.

I must thank all the many members of the laboratory of biochemistry and applied microbiology, and Bioenergy laboratory, past and present, for always being so willing to help and solve problems. They were invaluable in assisting me in getting started in the lab and have been wonderful colleagues and friends.

I am also very grateful to my friend Ahmed, who encouraged me to go on this path when I was hesitant and uncertain.

The present work was carried out with the support of the Coordination of Improvement of Higher Education Personnel - Brazil (CAPES) - Funding Code 001, to which I am grateful.

#### RESUMO

A tendência por esgotamento das reservas de petróleo e os problemas ambientais decorrentes do uso de combustíveis de origem fóssil têm evidenciado a necessidade por fontes alternativas de energia sustentáveis e baratas. Isso impulsionou o uso de etanol como combustível líquido, especialmente em países como EUA e Brasil. Contudo, para suprir esta crescente demanda por combustíveis, no Brasil extensas áreas de terras são ocupadas por cana-de-açúcar, e têm competido com outras culturas vegetais, especialmente para suprimento da cadeia de alimentos. Como alternativa, nos últimos anos têm se intensificado estudos para produção de etanol a partir da biomassa vegetal residual, como bagaço de cana-de-açúcar e outros subprodutos da agroindústria, uma vez que este material é subaproveitado e rico em hexoses ( $C_6$ ) e pentoses (C<sub>5</sub>). Para que a hidrólise enzimática da biomassa vegetal resulte em açúcares fermentescíveis, são necessárias etapas de pré-tratamento deste material, os quais tendem a gerar compostos inibidores de crescimento microbiano. Desta forma, leveduras resistentes a estes inibidores e capazes de co-fermentar açúcares C<sub>5</sub> e C<sub>6</sub> são amplamente investigadas. Diferentemente da levedura Saccharomyces cerevisae, algumas espécies não-Saccharomyces têm se mostrado capazes de assimilar pentoses, mas ainda são muito pouco exploradas, frente a diversidade de espécies na natureza. Investigar leveduras fermentadoras de xilose, assim como suas tolerâncias a inibidores do crescimento microbiano, pode suportar futuros estudos de engenharia metabólica para capacitação da linhagem industrial S. cerevisiae. Portanto, este trabalho propôs-se a avaliar a capacidade das leveduras Pichia ofunaensis e Trichosporon multisporum para assimilar xilose, e suas tolerâncias a alguns compostos inibitórios, bem como suas capacidades para produção de etanol a partir de xilose. As leveduras foram cultivadas em meio YEPX, pH 4,5 contendo, separadamente, os inibidores hidroximetilfurfural (HMF), furfural, ácido ferúlico, ácido acético, ácido fórmico e vanilina, cultivadas a 28 °C e 150 rpm por 96 h. A levedura P. ofunaensis apresentou crescimento em todas as concentrações destes inibidores e foi capaz de consumir completamente a xilose presente nos meios de cultivo, exceto em 20 mM de furfural, onde houve consumo de 40% da xilose, e entre 80 a 90% em maiores concentrações de ácido ferúlico (3 mM), ácido fórmico (40 mM) e vanilina (10 mM). Em presença de ácido acético 80 mM, a levedura não cresceu, e nas concentrações de 60 mM e 40 mM consumiu 20% e 90% da xilose presente nos meios, respectivamente. A levedura T. multisporum, em presença de furfural, exibiu crescimento até 15 mM e consumiu 30% da xilose. Em meio com ácido ferúlico, HMF e ácido fórmico, houve crescimento em todas as concentrações e consumo de até 40% (ácido ferúlico e HMF) e 30% (ácido fórmico) da xilose. Com vanilina, observamos crescimento até 5 mM deste inibidor e máximo consumo de 30% da xilose, e em meio contendo ácido acético a levedura não apresentou crescimento a 20 mM, exibindo consumo de até 40% de xilose em concentrações inferiores. A levedura P. ofunaensis se mostrou mais tolerante aos compostos considerados potencialmente tóxicos, exibindo melhor crescimento e consumo de xilose em comparação a levedura T. multisporum. Furfural e ácido acético se mostraram os compostos mais prejudiciais ao crescimento das leveduras. Por fim, na fermentação alcoólica, detectamos a produção de etanol apenas no cultivo da levedura P. ofunaensis, com máxima produção de 0,51 g/L após 96 h de cultivo em meio salino contendo 50 g/L de xilose.

Palavras-chave: Biomassa Lignocelulósica, Bioetanol, Ácidos Orgânicos, Fermentação, Leveduras, Pentose, Xilose.

#### ABSTRACT

Oil reserves are being depleted at an alarming rate, while the environmental problems arising from fossil fuels usage have highlighted the need for sustainable and cheap alternative energy sources, which has boosted the use of ethanol as a liquid fuel, especially in countries like the USA and Brazil. However, to meet this growing demand for combustibles, extensive land areas in Brazil have been occupied by sugarcane and have competed with other vegetable crops, especially for supplying the food chain. Alternatively, in recent years, studies have been intensified for ethanol production from residual plant biomass, such as sugarcane bagasse and other agro-industrial residues, since this material is underutilized and rich in hexoses  $(C_6)$  and pentoses (C5). For enzymatic action in the degradation of plant biomass, resulting in fermentable sugars, pre-treatment steps of this material are necessary, which tend to generate compounds that inhibit microbial growth. Thus, yeast resistance to these inhibitors and the capability of co-fermenting C<sub>5</sub> and C<sub>6</sub> sugars are widely investigated. Unlike the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae, some non-Saccharomyces species can assimilate pentoses, but they are still very little explored, given the diversity of species in nature. Investigating xylosefermenting yeasts, as well as their tolerances to microbial growth inhibitors, may support future studies of metabolic engineering to enable the industrial strain S. cerevisiae. Therefore, this work aimed to evaluate the capacity of Pichia ofunaensis and Trichosporon multisporum yeasts to assimilate xylose and their tolerances to some inhibitory compounds, as well as their capability to produce ethanol from xylose. Yeasts were cultivated in YEPX medium, pH 4.5, containing, separately, the inhibitors hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF), furfural, ferulic acid, acetic acid, formic acid, and vanillin, cultivated at 28 °C and 150 rpm for 96 h. The yeast P. ofunaensis grew at all concentrations of these inhibitors and was able to completely consume the xylose present in culture media, except in 20 mM furfural, in which 40% of xylose was consumed, and between 80 and 90 % in higher concentrations of ferulic acid (3 mM), formic acid (40 mmM), and vanillin (10 mM). In the presence of 80 mM acetic acid, the yeast did not grow, and at the concentrations of 60 mM and 40 mM, it consumed 20% and 90% of the xylose present in the media, respectively. The yeast T. multisporum, in the presence of furfural, exhibited growth up to 15 mM and consumed 30% of the xylose. In media with ferulic acid, HMF, and formic acid, there was growth at all concentrations and consumption of up to 40% (ferulic acid and HMF) and 30% (formic acid) of xylose. With vanillin, we observed growth up to 5 mM of this inhibitor and maximum consumption of 30% of xylose, and in a medium containing acetic acid the yeast did not grow at 20 mM, exhibiting consumption of up to 40% of xylose at lower concentrations. The yeast P. ofunaensis was more tolerant to compounds considered potentially toxic and showed better growth rates and xylose consumption compared to the yeast T. multisporum. Furfural and acetic acid proved to be the most harmful compounds for yeasts growth. Finally, in the alcoholic fermentation, we detected ethanol production only in the yeast P. ofunaensis cultures, with a maximum output of 0.51 g/L after 96 h of cultivation in a saline medium containing 50 g/L of xylose.

Keywords: Bioethanol, Fermentation, Lignocellulosic Biomass, Organic Acids, Pentose, Yeasts, Xylose.

## **ILLUSTRATIONS LIST**

Figure 1 - Representation of lignocellulose structure showing cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin fractions	21
Figure 2 - Different regions of cellulose	22
<b>Figure 3</b> - Degradation products from lignocellulosic biomass as a result of acidic pretreatment.	27
Figure 4 - Metabolic pathways for xylose catabolism	30
Figure 5 - Yeast with ideal properties for fermenting plant biomass pentose and hexose sugars	32
<b>Figure 6</b> - Some Organic acids produced from lignocellulosic biomass hydrolysates and their main applications	34
Figure 7 - P. ofunaensis (right) and T. multisporon (left) yeasts in a Petri dish	36
Figure 8 - P. ofunaensis (right) and T. multisporon (left) yeasts under microscope	36
<b>Figure 9</b> - Cellular Growth in culture media containing furfural inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	43
<b>Figure 10 -</b> Xylose assimilation in culture media containing furfural inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	44
<b>Figure 11 -</b> pH variation in culture media containing furfural inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	45
<b>Figure 12</b> - Cellular Growth in culture media containing HMF inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	48
<b>Figure 13 -</b> Xylose assimilation in culture media containing HMF inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	49
<b>Figure 14 -</b> pH variation in culture media containing HMF inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	50
<b>Figure 15</b> - Cellular Growth in culture media containing ferulic acid inhibitor (0.5-3 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	56
<b>Figure 16</b> - Xylose assimilation in culture media containing ferulic acid inhibitor (0.5-3 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	57
<b>Figure 17 -</b> pH variation in culture media containing ferulic acid inhibitor (0.5-3 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, P. <i>ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	58

<b>Figure 18</b> - Cellular Growth in culture media containing vanillin inhibitor (1-10 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	61
<b>Figure 19 -</b> Xylose assimilation in culture media containing vanillin inhibitor (1-10 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	62
<b>Figure 20</b> - pH variation in culture media containing vanillin inhibitor (1-10 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	63
<b>Figure 21</b> - Cellular Growth in culture media containing acetic acid inhibitor (20-80 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	69
<b>Figure 22</b> - Xylose assimilation in culture media containing acetic acid inhibitor (20-80 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	70
<b>Figure 23 -</b> pH variation in culture media containing acetic acid inhibitor (20-80 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	71
<b>Figure 24 -</b> Cellular Growth in culture media containing formic acid inhibitor (10-40 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	74
<b>Figure 25 -</b> Xylose assimilation in culture media containing formic acid inhibitor (10-40 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	75
<b>Figure 26 -</b> pH variation in culture media containing formic acid inhibitor (10-40 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (A) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (B)	76
<b>Figure 27 -</b> Anaerobic cultivation of the yeasts <i>P. ofunaensis</i> and <i>T. multisporum</i> in saline culture media for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm	80
<b>Figure 28</b> - Xylose consumption (symbols) and ethanol production (bars) during anaerobic cultivation of the yeasts <i>P. ofunaensis</i> (circle) and <i>T. multisporum</i> (triangle) in saline culture media for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm	82
<b>Figure 29 -</b> pH variation of the saline media during anaerobic cultivations of the yeasts <i>P. ofunaensis</i> and <i>T. multisporum</i> for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm	82

### TABLES LIST

Table 1 - Partial chemical composition of some Brazilian common agro-industrial wastes.	24
Table 2 - Analyzed inhibitor compounds and tested concentration range	39
<b>Table 3 -</b> Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing furfural after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by <i>P. ofunaensis</i> and <i>T. multisporum</i> .	41
<b>Table 4 -</b> Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing HMF after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by <i>P. ofunaensis</i> and <i>T. multisporum</i> .	46
<b>Table 5 -</b> Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing ferulic acid after   96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by <i>P. ofunaensis</i> and <i>T. multisporum</i> .	54
<b>Table 6 -</b> Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing vanillin after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by <i>P. ofunaensis</i> and <i>T. multisporum</i> .	59
<b>Table 7 -</b> Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing acetic acid after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by <i>P. ofunaensis</i> and <i>T. multisporum</i> .	67
<b>Table 8 -</b> Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing formic acid after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by <i>P. ofunaensis</i> and <i>T. multisporum</i> .	72

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS, ACRONYMS AND SYMBOLS

2,3-BD	2,3-Butanediol			
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate			
DNS	3, 5 - Dinitrosalicylic Acid			
h	Hours			
HMF	Hydroxymethylfurfural			
Μ	Molar			
mL	Milliliter			
mm	Millimeter			
mМ	Millimolar (10 <sup>-3</sup> mol L <sup>-1</sup> )			
nm	Nanometer			
O.D.	Optical density			
рН	Potential of hydrogen			
rpm	Rotations per minute			
STEX	Steam explosion			
xg	Centrifugal force			
YEP	Yest Extract & Peptone			
YEPD	Yest Extract, Peptone & Dextrose			
YEPX	Yest Extract, Peptone & Xylose			

### CONTENTS

1 Introduction	14
2 GENERAL BIBLIOGRAPHIC REVIEW	15
2.1 Global population growth and the increasing demand for food and energy	15
2.2 Energy: importance, types and sources	16
2.3 Different renewable energy types; advantages and disadvantages	17
2.3.1 Solar Energy	17
2.3.2 Wind Energy	18
2.3.3 Hydropower Energy	18
2.3.4 Geothermal Energy	19
2.3.5 Biomass Energy	19
2.4 Biofuel	20
2.5 Lignocellulosic biomass	20
2.6 Agro-industrial wastes	23
2.7 Inhibitors derived from hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass	24
2.7.1 Furan aldehydes inhibitors	25
2.7.2 Aliphatic acids inhibitors	25
2.7.3 Phenolic compounds inhibitors	26
2.8 Xylose	27
2.8.1 Xylose assimilation and metabolism in yeasts	
2.8.2 Xylose transport in yeasts	30
2.9 Biotechnological applications	33
3 OBJECTIVES	35
3.1 General Objective	35
3.2 Specific Objectives	35
4 MATERIALS AND METHODS	35
4.1 Microorganisms	35
4.2 Strains cultivation and quantification of growth in xylose	37
4.2.1 The pre-inoculum preparation	37
4.2.2 Cultivation of microorganisms in media containing xylose and glucose	37
4.2.3 Growth quantification, pH measurement, and sugar assimilation of culture m containing xylose	edia 38
4.2.4 Standardization of the inoculum	
4.2.5 Yeast tolerance test to different inhibitor compounds	39
4.2.6 Yeast tolerance test to combined inhibitor compounds	39

4.3 Ethanol production assay	40
4.4Ethanol identification and quantification	
5 RESULTS & DISCUSSIONS	41
5.1 Furan aldehydes inhibitors	41
5.1.1 Furfural effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption	41
5.1.2 HMF effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption	
5.1.3 Discussion	51
5.2 Phenolic compounds inhibitors	54
5.2.1 Ferulic acid effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption	54
5.2.2 Vanillin effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption	59
5.2.3 Discussion	64
5.3 Aliphatic acids inhibitors	67
5.3.1 Acetic acid effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption	67
5.3.2 Formic acid effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption	72
5.3.3 Discussion	77
5.4 The combined impact of the tested inhibitors on the two yeasts	79
5.5 Ethanol production, identification and quantification	79
6 CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	

#### **1** Introduction

According to United Nations, the world population has exceeded 7 billion people. Overpopulation, along with the rapid development of civilized lifestyles, has contributed to the rise in energy demand, as global consumption has grown by around 50% in the last twenty years, and carbon-based fuels such as coal, oil, and gas have been the principal sources.

This puts us in front of three crucial problems: high energy demand; significant depletion of non-renewable energy resources; and environmental concerns such as global warming, and pollution, which show the urgent need to search for alternative renewable, environmentally friendly, and cheaper sources of energy.

One of these sources is lignocellulosic biomass. It is an abundant bio-renewable resource, is inexpensive, broadly available, and has been identified as a sustainable carbon source. The use of this biomass points to the opportunity to add value to agro-industrial residues and does not compete with the food supply at the same time. This energy has much lower gas emissions compared to fossil fuels and lower costs compared to other renewable energy types.

This lignocellulosic biomass is composed of three main parts: cellulose, which is the dominant part of the lignocellulosic biomass, is a linear homopolymer that has D-glucose units; hemicellulose, representing 20 to 35% of the lignocellulosic biomass, is a highly diverse heteropolysaccharide, composed of several types of hexoses and pentose, and xylan is the most predominant type of hemicellulose, which has a main chain formed by xylose monomers; and lignin is an amorphous three-dimensional polymer that gives rigidity and resistance to the cell wall.

Xylose is an important sugar derived from the hydrolysis of plant biomass and can constitute up to 25% of the total dry weight of some forest and agricultural residues, which denotes the importance of its use in fermentation processes. However, the yeast *S. cerevisiae* is unable to efficiently co-assimilate glucose and xylose. Thus, prospecting for non-*Saccharomyces* yeasts capable of assimilating xylose may provide a better knowledge of the xylose transport mechanisms in the cell and offer support for the metabolic engineering of *S. cerevisiae* to assimilate it.

In the laboratory of biochemistry and applied microbiology - Unesp, São José do Rio Preto, SP, Brazil, a research group under the supervision of Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Eleni Gomes, keeps prospecting for microorganisms capable of fermenting xylose and producing ethanol and other valuable products. This work is a continuation of what a previous master's student (VAZ, 2020) had done to study the two yeasts, *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum*.

#### **2 GENERAL BIBLIOGRAPHIC REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Global population growth and the increasing demand for food and energy

The world's population has surpassed 7 billion people. According to the United Nations (DESA, 2013), and a study published in the journal Science by the University of Washington (GERLAND et al., 2014), it is highly possible that we will have 9.6 billion Earthlings by 2050, and roughly 11 billion or more by 2100.

This population explosion forces us to confront some of the world's most pressing environmental problems, among other concerns, including climate change, energy demand, food security, and freshwater (UNITED NATIONS NEW YORK, 2019). Producing enough food to sustain an ever-increasing population seems to have become what the 2014 World Food Prize Symposium calls "the greatest challenge in human history." (THE WORLD FOOD PRIZE, 2014). However, seed breeding, soil nutrient replenishment (such as chemical and organic fertilizers), irrigation, mechanization, and other innovations may help the food supply keep pace with population growth. Thus, technological advancements in all areas (such as agriculture, energy, water use, manufacturing, disease control, information management, transportation, communications) would help to keep production ahead (ALEXANDRATOS, 2012).

Furthermore, it is becoming clear that the more affluent humanity becomes, the more energy and natural resources, usually carbon-based fuels such as coal, oil, and gas, are consumed. And it is noticeable in consumption behavior that includes almost everything, from higher protein foods such as meat and dairy products, to more consumer goods, enormous buildings, more vehicles, and even more aviation (Popul. Summit World's Sci. Acad., 1993).

Nevertheless, regarding natural resources, and according to studies, humanity is living beyond its means. An ongoing Global Footprint Network study shows that we are currently using an average of 1.7 planets to provide the resources we use and to absorb our waste. And by 2050, we will need 3 planets if things remain the same (GLOBAL FOOTPRINT NETWORK, 2021). This means that we are consuming much more resources than the capability of the planet to reproduce and recover.

Consequently, this unconscious consumption in general causes an acceleration of the depletion of non-renewable resources like fossil fuel, which is the major source of energy these days. This fuel, which notwithstanding that it has begun to be exhausted, has also been used with such intensity that it has caused many misfortunes on the planet, such as global warming,

environmental pollution, climate change, and water scarcity. Besides being relatively expensive and with unstable prices due to several factors, including economic and political ones.

The world nowadays is confronted with three crucial issues: high energy demand, a significant depletion of non-renewable energy resources, and higher levels of environmental pollution both locally and globally (DEMIRBAS, 2009b), which show the urgent need to search for alternative renewable energy sources that are environmentally friendly and cheaper.

#### 2.2 Energy: importance, types and sources

The World Bank's previous Vice President, Rachel Kyte, announced in an interview, "It is energy that lights the lamp that lets you do your homework, that keeps the heat on in a hospital, that lights the small businesses where most people work. Without energy, there is no economic growth, there is no dynamism, and there is no opportunity." (WORLD BANK, 2013).

Energy is a fundamental part of almost all aspects of life. It is one of the most dominant cornerstones in nations' development and economic growth and promotes living standards and human welfare. Providing sufficient and affordable energy is a prerequisite to having an advantage in global competition. Since all the current indicators confirm the imminent depletion of fossil fuels, searching for sustainable and renewable sources of energy is crucial for sustainable development and production processes (TÜRKOĞLU; KARDOĞAN, 2018).

Diversification of energy sources and increasing its efficiency has become one of the main factors indicating the development and leadership position of a nation globally. In the search for the cheapest, fastest, and most environmentally-friendly ways of meeting the nation's energy needs, expanding the energy resources isn't enough anymore, but its efficiency has started to be considered too, which means utilizing less energy to provide the same product or service (PATTERSON, 1996).

Energy resources are ordinarily fossil, nuclear, and renewable energy resources. Conventional energy based on coal, gas, and oil is the dominant source nowadays. Nevertheless, its lousy impacts on the environment have prompted the world to try to reduce its excessive use, as well as to search for alternative solutions that meet the increasing need for energy without having the same harmful impact on the environment (KUMAR, 2020).

Nuclear energy has been identified as one of the reasonable options too. However, the panic and fear that it has brought over the years only increases the uncertainty about its future. Three nuclear disasters have occurred in the past 30 years in Russia, the United States, and Japan. The impact of such a terrifying incident is so huge that, regardless of the all-safety preparations provided by the nuclear equipment operators and suppliers, environmental

protection associations are pressing to force governments to seek safer alternatives (AZARPOUR et al., 2013).

Renewable energy is gaining important fame as the future resource of energy because of its green nature, its renewability, and its ability to be used endlessly. These resources can be effective in mitigating climate change, greenhouse effects, and global warming (BILGILI; KOÇAK; BULUT, 2016). Other valuable outcomes are also noticeable alongside energy security, such as job creation, which could increase job opportunities, improve health care, and promote life standards. That would reflect positively on social bond creation and community development if proper usage of the renewable energy system was achieved (ZEB et al., 2014).

According to predictions, the world's energy demand will grow by up to five times its current consumption in the future. Currently, three-fourths of that demand is fulfilled by fossil fuels. Various renewable energy resources, like hydropower, wind, solar, biomass, tidal energy, biofuel, etc., provide 15–20% of the entire world's energy (KUMAR, 2020).

These resources reduce price swings and fossil fuel imports and dependence. However, there are several flaws as well. Each resource has its own limitations that must be considered. Seasonal variations, length of day and night, sun and moon position, demographic and georestrictions, technical and technological constraints, and other factors all contribute to power generation change and instability (EVANS; STREZOV; EVANS, 2009).

Other barriers, like political, institutional, administrative, fiscal, social, economic, industrial, distributional, and informational, play an essential role in the repression of these kinds of energy resources (YAZDANIE; RUTHERFORD, 2010).

#### 2.3 Different renewable energy types; advantages and disadvantages.

#### 2.3.1 Solar Energy

The abundance of solar energy makes it a transcendent new power. According to much research, solar energy may become the most likely source of energy in the future (REHMAN; HALAWANI, 1997). It is often called the alternative energy source to fossil fuel sources. It may be considered today's best solution for a decentralized energy supply in several parts of the world (COUNCIL, 2008; "Welcome to Solar Heat Europe - Solar Heat Europe", 2019).

Being the most expensive source of renewable energy At the moment, solar power meets only a small portion of the world's energy needs (AZARPOUR et al., 2013). Because photovoltaic (PV) cells have a low efficiency in converting light energy directly into electricity, their contribution to electricity supply is considered negligible when compared to other sources of energy, and a large portion of the solar radiation energy would be dissipated as heat (REN21, 2019).

Manufacturing these PV cells isn't cheap either, which adds another problem to their use. Besides that, chemicals utilized in its fabrication are potentially harmful to human health (INTERNATIONAL ENERGY AGENCY, 2013).

Some other factors, such as energy storage, geographical location, duration of daylight, season, as well as local landscape and weather, are, in many cases, parts and circumstances that would lead to a drop in the amount of usable energy (REHMAN; GHORI, 2000).

#### 2.3.2 Wind Energy

Wind energy is a clean, low-cost, and abundant type of energy. Its energy conversion system is more cost-effective compared to other renewable energy conversion systems. As a result, it can provide immense economic benefits in areas with high wind densities (WEN; ZHENG; DONGHAN, 2009).

But it has some disadvantages, such as the significant amount of land required for the installation of wind turbines and other related wind energy facilities. On the other hand, the wind is intermittent and periodic, which would be a further addition to the concern about using this type of energy. Storage of the produced energy could be a possible issue, too, as storage units suffer from reliability and efficiency problems. Not to mention the climate change concern that could have a long-term impact on wind patterns (REN, 2010).

#### 2.3.3 Hydropower Energy

Hydropower energy appears to be a potential renewable energy source. Approximately 20% of the world's electricity is generated by hydropower (2,700 TWh/yr) and represents the most significant source of supply for 55 countries globally (KAYGUSUZ, 2004). It is the main Brazilian energy matrix that handles around 65% of the generated electrical energy (EIA, 2021). Hydropower energy stands out for its accessibility, consistent and reliable technology when compared to other renewable energy sources (YÜKSEL, 2009).

Yet, the concept of harvesting energy from water flow may appear so straightforward that its consequences for the environment and inhabitants are frequently neglected. The social and environmental impact assessments receive insufficient attention (BENT; ORR; BAKER, 2002). Climate change vulnerability is a principal problem for this type of energy. For example, the rain shortage season may have an impact on stream level and flow, which will drastically reduce the amount of available energy produced by the hydroelectric dam (MORIARTY;

HONNERY, 2012). Failure of dam structures could be the worst condition. It affects not only the local biota but also the residents living nearby (AZARPOUR et al., 2013).

Various other problems are also raised, such as deforestation, change in water quality and hydrology, dam construction-related implications, and greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the decomposition of biomass carried and accumulated by the water flow over time (SOVACOOL; BULAN, 2011).

#### 2.3.4 Geothermal Energy

Geothermal energy is the energy produced and stored beneath the Earth's surface. It referred to the internal structure of the Earth as its source. Humans have used this kind of energy since the age of ancient Rome in the public bath. Nowadays, it is used for power generation and heating purposes. It is affordable, efficient, and environmentally friendly (GLASSLEY, 2010).

Some disadvantages vary from the risk of land subsidence, inconvenience to local inhabitants, to the worst situation, induced by an earthquake (MORIARTY; HONNERY, 2011).

#### 2.3.5 Biomass Energy

Biomass energy, which is produced from organic materials, is considered an environmentally-friendly energy source because of its much lower greenhouse gas emissions when compared to fossil fuels. Biomass energy is also recognized as a low-cost energy when compared to other types of energy, and that makes it more useful and economically efficient. However, it cannot meet the global need for energy due to the shortage of biomass supplies of different kinds (HONNERY; MORIARTY, 2007).

Not to mention other concerns such as the risks of food security (MAKARIEVA; GORSHKOV; LI, 2008), direct and indirect land-use change (SCHUBERT, 2009), biodiversity loss (HENNENBERG et al., 2010), water source availability (DE FRAITURE; GIORDANO; LIAO, 2008), and agricultural product costs (TILMAN et al., 2009) that must be taken into account when using this energy.

In general, the major challenge for renewable energy is to increase capacity to meet rising energy demand. With less than 20% of the total global energy contribution, it is still far from other energy sources. More reliable solutions should be searched for to meet the immense need for clean and renewable energy (AZARPOUR et al., 2013).

#### 2.4 Biofuel

Biofuel is a renewable energy source that utilizes organic (bio-based) materials that can be used to replace petroleum-based fuels (biomass energy). It includes a diverse variety of fuels that arise from biomass. This term refers to solid biofuels such as biochar, which is charcoal produced from plant matter, liquid biofuels such as bioethanol, biodiesel, and biomethanol, and gaseous biofuels such as biogas, bio-syngas, and biohydrogen (BALAT, 2008; KONG et al., 2008).

The most common biofuels are bioethanol, which is produced from sugar-rich crops like sugarcane, wheat, and corn, and bio-diesel, which is produced from oil-rich seeds such as soya and palm oil, which are produced from traditional food crops that require good agricultural land to grow. These sugars and oils found in arable crops are used to make first-generation biofuels that can be extracted easily using conventional technology methods. However, second-generation biofuels that are made from lignocellulosic biomass such as woody crops, agricultural and forestry residues or wastes, are much harder to extract (DEMIRBAS, 2008a, 2008c, 2008d, 2009a; DEMIRBAS; DINCER, 2008).

The need for alternate technologies to produce biofuel that could potentially help achieve certain goals that include energy security, respect for environmental concerns, foreign exchange savings, some diversity in the fuel sector, adding market value to these agricultural residues, and not competing against food production and supply (BALAT, 2009; DEMIRBAS, 2009c). By developing and improving biotechnologies, we can expand the spectrum of biomass that we can use in the production of biofuels (AZARPOUR et al., 2013).

The warm climate and hydroelectrical availability at a relatively low cost help in reducing the production costs for ethanol in countries like Brazil, which is probably the lowest-cost producer in the world (DEMIRBAS, 2007, 2008b, 2008d; JONKER et al., 2015).

#### 2.5 Lignocellulosic biomass

The most abundant bio-renewable resource in the world is lignocellulosic biomass (ZHOU et al., 2011). It is cheap, widely distributed, and readily available all over the world, and it is also recognized as a sustainable carbon source (LIN et al., 2018). These characteristics make it a great potential for obtaining products of economic value (TAARNING et al., 2011). Currently, this material is being explored in various biotechnology fields, such as the production of enzymes or biocatalysts (PERIYASAMY et al., 2018), biofuels, and other chemical products (NIE et al., 2018).

The principal component of plant biomass is the cell wall of plant cells (SOREK et al., 2014), which is formed mainly by three distinct elements: cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin (Figure 1) (WALIA et al., 2017). The ratio of these three components is very relative and depends on many factors, such as the source of the biomass, type of plant tissue, and response to environmental conditions (KNOX, 2008; SERRANO-RUIZ; LUQUE; SEPÚLVEDA-ESCRIBANO, 2011; TAIZ et al., 2014).

The dominant part of lignocellulosic biomass is cellulose, which is also the most abundant polysaccharide in nature (SOMERVILLE, 2006). It is a linear homopolymer that has units of D-glucose joined by  $\beta$  (1 $\rightarrow$ 4) glycosidic bonds, among different orientations, with the general formula (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>10</sub>O<sub>5</sub>)<sub>n</sub> (STELTE et al., 2011).  $\beta$ -glucose dimers are called cellobiose and are considered the basic unit of the cellulose polymer (POLETTO; JUNIOR, 2015). Its structure comprises extensive networks of intramolecular and intermolecular hydrogen bonds that strongly bind glucose units to form microfibrils (ARO; PAKULA; PENTTILÄ, 2005; SOMERVILLE et al., 2010).

Depending on the organization and compaction of microfibrils, cellulose has two differentiated regions: crystalline and amorphous regions (Figure 2). The crystalline portions of cellulose are notably more stable and less susceptible to degradation by enzymatic action than the amorphous portions because of their higher organization and compression (MATHEWS; PAWLAK; GRUNDEN, 2015). The high compaction of glucose molecules also gives cellulose a high molecular mass, which results in its insolubility in water (BRANDT et al., 2013).



Figure 1 - Representation of lignocellulose structure showing cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin fractions.

Hemicellulose represents 20 to 35% of the lignocellulosic biomass and is considered the second most abundant polysaccharide in nature (LUO et al., 2012). Its amorphous nature allows it to be hydrolyzed more easily than cellulose. Hemicellulose is a highly diverse heteropolysaccharide composed of various types of sugars such as pentose (arabinose, xylose), hexoses (mannose, glucose, galactose, rhamnose), acetylated sugars, and uronic acids ( $\alpha$ -Dgalacturonic acid) (GÍRIO et al., 2010; ISIKGOR; BECER, 2015). It's commonly classified based on the predominant sugar residue present in the main chain. Xylan is the most prevalent type of hemicellulose, which has a main chain formed by xylose monomers joined via  $\beta$  bonds (1 $\rightarrow$ 4) (TERRONE, 2017). Therefore, xylose represents over 80% of the hemicellulose's structure (BIAN et al., 2012). And that's why xylose is one of the most abundant sugars on Earth.

Lignin is the most prominent polymer on Earth besides cellulose. It is an amorphous three-dimensional polymer that grants rigidity and resistance to the plant cell wall, which increases its integrity and promotes resistance to microbial attacks, mechanical damage, enzymatic degradation, oxidation, and seals the conducting vessels of the plant to ensure their protection (BROWN; CHANG, 2014; SANTOS et al., 2012). Lignin is almost based on phenylpropanoid units interconnected by stable C-C and C-O bonds (BOURBONNAIS; PAICE, 1988) and derived from the oxidative polymerization of hydroxycinnamoyl alcohol derivatives. The proportion of these derivatives results in different types of lignin (VOGT, 2010).

The robustness and recalcitrance of lignocellulosic biomass are associated with many factors, such as the cellulose crystallinity level, links between hemicellulose and lignin, and lignin composition. Thus, the delignification process is fundamental to facilitate the access of cellulolytic and hemicellulolytic enzymes during the saccharification process (LI et al., 2015).



Figure 2 - Different regions of cellulose.

Source: adapted from (LEE; HAMID; ZAIN, 2014).

#### 2.6 Agro-industrial wastes

Annually, humanity produces massive quantities of agro-industrial waste. According to estimates, the global production of lignocellulosic biomass is approximately 3-5 gigatons per year (MURALI; SRINIVAS; AHRING, 2017). Latin America produces over 500 million tons/year of agro-industrial by-products and residues, and Brazil is responsible for more than half of this total (SOUZA; SOUZA; SANTOS, 2007).

For the most part, these residues are released into the environment without proper control procedures, making them a relevant cause of environmental pollution and having a harmful impact on different forms of life (SADH; DUHAN; DUHAN, 2018). Even though this type of waste is biodegradable, it demands minimal time to be degraded, and due to the high level of human activity on the planet, it becomes so hard for these wastes to be recycled naturally (BÔAS; ESPOSITO, 2000).

Lignocellulosic biomass refers to agricultural, agro-industrial, and urban waste (YANG et al., 2015). Bioconversion of lignocellulosic biomass wastes has become an essential issue nowadays due to the variety of sugars and aromatic derivatives that can be obtained and used as raw material for the employment of noble materials such as sugars, which give value to residues considered to be waste materials (LIGUORI; AMORE; FARACO, 2013).

These residues are composed of rich nutrients such as proteins, sugars, and minerals, besides holding an abundant and inexpensive amount of carbohydrates. Consequently, agroindustrial residues should not simply be considered as "waste" but as raw materials for the formation and development of different products with high added value (CARVALHO et al., 2002, 2005; SADH; DUHAN; DUHAN, 2018). Using these raw materials reveals the possibility of adding value to agricultural residues, diminishes the cost of production, and does not compete with the food supply (ROBAK; BALCEREK, 2018).

Sugarcane bagasse, rice husk, corncob, sawdust, rice straw, and wheat bran are some examples of residues generated in Brazilian agricultural activity, which are rich in pentoses and hexoses (MURUGAN et al., 2011; SADH; DUHAN; DUHAN, 2018; WIZANI et al., 1993).

Agro-industrial	Chemical composition (% w/w)			Doforonoos
wastes	Cellulose	Hemicellulose	Lignin	- References
Sugarcane bagasse	30.2	56.7	13.4	(EL-TAYEB et al., 2012)
<b>Rice straw</b>	39.2	23.5	36.1	(EL-TAYEB et al., 2012)
<b>Corn stalks</b>	61.2	19.3	6.9	(EL-TAYEB et al., 2012)
Sawdust	45.1	28.1	24.2	(MARTIN et al., 2012)
Soya stalks	34.5	24.8	19.8	(MOTTE et al., 2013)
Wheat straw	32.9	24.0	8.9	(MARTIN et al., 2012)
Orange peel	9.21	10.5	0.84	(RIVAS et al., 2008)
Coffee skin	23.77	16.68	28.58	(BALLESTEROS; TEIXEIRA; MUSSATTO, 2014)

Table 1 - Partial chemical composition of some Brazilian common agro-industrial wastes.

Source: Modified from (SADH; DUHAN; DUHAN, 2018).

#### 2.7 Inhibitors derived from hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass

Use of lignocellulosic biomass for biofuel production might help alleviate energy, food, and environmental crises. To take advantage of lignocellulosic feedstocks in producing biofuels and other commodities through biochemical conversion, it needs to pass through pretreatment processes to disrupt the close inter-component covalent or non-covalent bonds between constituents of the plant cell wall (YANG; WYMAN, 2008). And improve the susceptibility of available sugars to be used for saccharification and fermentation (JÖNSSON; MARTÍN, 2016).

Pretreatment processes are required to remove lignin, release hemicellulose carbohydrates, reduce cellulose crystallinity, and increase biomass porosity. Physical, chemical, physicochemical, and biological processes make up the majority of pretreatment operations today. Microorganisms are exposed to a variety of inhibitors during the biomass pretreatment and biofuel fermentation processes. These inhibitors suppress microbial growth, lowering biofuel yields and raising fermentation costs (LEE et al., 2017; WANG; SUN; YUAN, 2018).

Solubilization and degradation of hemicellulose and lignin are the main reasons for the formation of most inhibitors (Figure 3) (JÖNSSON; ALRIKSSON; NILVEBRANT, 2013). These inhibitors include aliphatic carboxylic acids, furans, and phenolic compounds. Also, the pretreatment solvents like ionic liquids, ethanol, and methanol would remain in the biomass slurries and inhibit microbial growth (LI et al., 2013; LYU et al., 2017; OLIET et al., 2002).

#### 2.7.1 Furan aldehydes inhibitors

Furfural and hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) are common furan aldehydes derived from the degradation of pentose and hexose, respectively (CHHEDA; ROMÁN-LESHKOV; DUMESIC, 2007; PARK et al., 2011).

The responsible pretreatment processes involved in the generation of furan aldehydes are acid-based techniques, such as acid hydrolysis, acid pretreatment, sulfite pulping, and hydrothermal techniques (AKOBI; HAFEZ; NAKHLA, 2016). Dehydration of the pentoses and the uronic acids produced by hydrolysis of the hemicelluloses results in 2-furaldehyde, commonly referred to as furfural, while dehydration of hexoses results in 5-hydroxymethyl-2-furaldehyde, henceforth referred to as HMF. Their concentrations in lignocellulose hydrolysates vary according to biomass type and pretreatment severity (PAN et al., 2016).

Yeast cell growth is slowed down and ethanol output is reduced when furan aldehydes are present in the medium. Furan aldehyde toxicity generally causes dose-dependent inhibition of glycolytic and fermentative enzymes (including pyruvate, acetaldehyde, and alcohol dehydrogenases) as well as the development of single-strand breaks in double-stranded DNA (HADI; SHAHABUDDIN; REHMAN, 1989). Furthermore, furan aldehydes may promote the rerouting of the cell's energy flux to damage repair while decreasing intracellular ATP and NAD(P)H levels (ALMEIDA et al., 2007).

Furfural might cause an accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which damage mitochondria, vacuole membranes, actin cytoskeleton, and nuclear chromatin, among other things (ALLEN et al., 2010). Furthermore, the toxicity of acetic acid and phenols could be boosted in the presence of furfural (ZALDIVAR; MARTINEZ; INGRAM, 1999).

#### 2.7.2 Aliphatic acids inhibitors

Acetic acid, formic acid, and levulinic acid are the most common aliphatic acids detected in lignocellulose hydrolysate (ZHANG et al., 2016). Acetic acid is produced by the hydrolysis of acetyl groups in hemicellulose and lignin (LEE et al., 2017). Levulinic acid is formed during HMF degradation (ULBRICHT, 1984), while formic acid arises from HMF and furfural further degradation because of instability in the dehydrative medium under extreme pretreatment conditions, such as a long reaction time, high temperature, and acid concentration (DANON; VAN DER AA; DE JONG, 2013; FENGEL; WEGENER, 1989).

It has been shown that yeasts' specific growth rates and biomass yield can be reduced in the presence of acetic acid in media (PAMPULHA; LOUREIRO-DIAS, 2000). Also, acetic acid was able to enter yeast cells via facilitated diffusion by the aquaglyceroporin Fps1p (MOLLAPOUR; PIPER, 2007). Thus, when the diffusion rate of aliphatic acids exceeds the efflux rate, the pH drops irreversibly, and the cellular functions stop, resulting in cell death (VAN DER POL et al., 2014).

#### 2.7.3 Phenolic compounds inhibitors

Phenolic compounds, including acids (ferulic acid, vanillic acids, 4-hydroxybenzoic acid, and syringic acid), alcohols (guaiacol, catechol, and vanillyl alcohol), and aldehydes (vanillin, syringic aldehyde, and 4-hydroxylbenzaldehyde), were mainly developed during the degradation of lignin and hemicellulose in biomass pretreatment using acid-based, hydrothermal, alkaline, and oxidative methods. The types of phenolic compounds depend on the sort of biomass and pretreatment conditions (DU et al., 2010; JÖNSSON et al., 1998; LARSSON et al., 1999; MARTÍN et al., 2002, 2007; MITCHELL; TAYLOR; BAUER, 2014).

Phenolic compounds could increase the lag phase and decrease the fermentation production of ethanol, lactic acid, and xylitol (CHEN et al., 2017; WANG et al., 2017; ZHANG et al., 2012). These compounds can penetrate the membrane, increasing its fluidity and damaging the cellular membrane by hydrophobicity, resulting in the leakage of intracellular elements, a change in protein-to-lipid ratio, and attenuating the function of selective barriers and enzyme matrices (KEWELOH; WEYRAUCH; REHM, 1990).

Phenolic compounds of lower molecular weight have higher toxicity levels because they could diffuse into the cell more rapidly and increase the inhibition severity of glucose assimilation (LIN et al., 2015). Moreover, they could increase the level of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which results in cytoskeleton damage, DNA mutagenesis, and programmed cell death (IBRAHEEM; NDIMBA, 2013).



Figure 3 - Degradation products from lignocellulosic biomass as a result of acidic pretreatment.

Source: adapted from (JÖNSSON; MARTÍN, 2016).

#### 2.8 Xylose

Xylose ( $C_5H_{10}O_5$ ), or wood sugar, is a monosaccharide of the aldopentose type that makes up the principal chain of Xylan, the most frequent variety of hemicellulose in plant cell walls, present in grass and hardwood plants (TERRONE, 2017). It is, without a doubt, the most abundant pentose sugar in lignocellulosic biomass and the second most abundant of all sugars after glucose, forming about 25% of the total dry weight of some forest and agricultural residues (MORI et al., 2015).

Xylose is an attractive sugar because it can be converted to ethanol, furfural, xylitol, organic acids, and other bio-products. Its fermentation is an essential step to improve the yield of ethanol production and other bio-products of biotechnological concern from lignocellulosic biomass (AMOAH et al., 2019; MARTINS et al., 2018).

Xylose-fermenting microorganisms are found amongst bacteria, yeast, and filamentous fungi. Anaerobic bacteria ferment pentoses (DIEN; COTTA; JEFFRIES, 2003; JEFFRIES; JIN, 2004). However, they are already hindered at low sugar and ethanol concentrations. Furthermore, significant by-product formation occurs during ethanolic fermentation, reducing ethanol yield. Although some natural yeast strains, such as *Pichia stipitis* CBS 6054, can turn

xylose into ethanol with a respectable yield and productivity, chemicals formed during the pretreatment and hydrolysis of the lignocellulose material inhibit these yeasts. Filamentous fungi are too slow for a competitive industrial process, despite their ability to tolerate inhibitors (KOMESU et al., 2020).

Nevertheless, xylose is not as easily fermented as glucose (WEN et al., 2016). Native strains of the yeast *S. cerevisiae* are generally incapable of fermenting pentoses since the xylose-to-ethanol conversion requires particular membrane transporters and specific enzyme expression, which do not exist or are not expressed by these strains (MCMILLAN, 1993). Still, some yeasts can use xylose as a carbon source, which indicates the existence of a transport system and intracellular enzymes to metabolize it (VAZ, 2020).

Therefore, efforts have primarily been directed at obtaining recombinant strains of bacteria and yeast that can handle lignocellulose fermentation processes and meet the industrial criteria (HAHN-HÄGERDAL et al., 2006). However, larger cell size, thicker cell walls, better growth in acidic pH, less rigorous nutritional requirements, and better contamination resistance give yeasts an edge over bacteria in industrial fermentations (JEFFRIES, 2006).

#### 2.8.1 Xylose assimilation and metabolism in yeasts

Yeasts are chemoorganotrophic microorganisms that employ a wide variety of organic substances as carbon sources, including hexose and pentose sugars, glycerol, and sorbitol, among many others. Nevertheless, various species differ in their ability to assimilate these molecules and how they metabolize them, whether through respiratory or fermentation pathways, in the course of generating energy for their vital processes (MARTINS, 2011).

From this perspective, the discovery of xylose-fermenting yeast in the early 1980s was regarded as a turning point in biotechnology, allowing this sugar to be more effectively used. Many xylose-fermenting yeasts have been reported since then (JEFFRIES, 1981; SCHNEIDER et al., 1981; SLININGER et al., 1982).

The yeast genera most frequently mentioned as xylose assimilators via oxidative or fermentative pathways include *Brettanomyces*, *Candida*, *Clavispora*, *Kluyveromyces*, *Meyerozyma*, *Pachysolen*, *Pichia*, and *Schizosaccharomyces* (CHANDRAKANT; BISARIA, 1998; GONG et al., 1981; MCMILLAN, 1993). Between 2005 and 2018, around 85 research papers have been published using *Scheffersomyces stipitis* specie in pentose fermentation. Other species are investigated on a less regular basis, such as *Spathaspora arborariae* (CUNHA-PEREIRA et al., 2011; HICKERT et al., 2014), *Pichia guilliermondii* (FAN et al., 2013), *Hansenula polymorpha* (VORONOVSKY et al., 2009), *Rhodotorula* sp (MARTINS, 2011),

*Pichia ofunaensis* (KURTZMAN, 1998; MARTINS, 2011; ROBERT; SMITH, 2011) and *Trichosporon multisporum* (GUAMÁN-BURNEO et al., 2015; MARTINS, 2011).

*Scheffersomyces (Pichia) stipitis, S. (Candida) shehatae, Pachysolen tannophilus, Rhodotorula* sp., and *Pichia guilliermondii* have all been described as yeasts capable of converting xylose to ethanol. Still, some are mentioned in the literature as being better for achieving higher levels of alcoholic fermentation yields from xylose, while others are not. However, none has achieved a reasonable yield level for industrial uses until now (BAJWA et al., 2011; BALAT; BALAT; ÖZ, 2008; MARTINS, 2011; MCMILLAN, 1993; WEBB; LEE, 1990).

The initial steps of xylose metabolism may follow two pathways (Figure 4): microorganisms that have xylose isomerase enzyme (prevalent in bacteria) convert D-xylose into D-xylulose, which is easily converted into xylulose-5-phosphate, that enters the Pentose-Phosphate pathway (PPP), generating fructose-6-phosphate, which, through glycolysis, is converted into pyruvate.

The second pathway (prevalent in yeasts, filamentous fungi, and other eukaryotes) of D-xylose is catalyzed by the xylose reductase enzyme, generating xylitol, which, through xylitol dehydrogenase, is converted into xylulose-5-phosphate, which also follows via PPP, and then, via glycolysis, is converted into pyruvate. In the absence of oxygen, yeasts reduce pyruvate to ethanol and CO<sub>2</sub> (JACKSON; NICOLSON, 2002; JEFFRIES, 2006).

The xylose reductase enzyme, which converts xylose into xylitol, can use NADPH and NADH, with a preference for NADPH. While xylitol dehydrogenase, which produces xylulose from xylitol, depends on NAD<sup>+</sup>. According to the cell's redox balance (the balance between NADPH and NAD<sup>+</sup>), xylitol can be released into the external medium, resulting in low ethanol output. In this manner, the cell's redox potential can determine the extracellular product obtained in the xylose fermentation process (MONTEIRO, 2020).

Figure 4 - Metabolic pathways for xylose catabolism.



Source: adapted from (JACKSON; NICOLSON, 2002).

#### 2.8.2 Xylose transport in yeasts

Molecules' transport across the membrane and its related biochemical aspects are a fundamental part of any organism's physiology. The facilitated and active transport systems described in prokaryotes and/or eukaryotes are: 1) facilitated diffusion (passive transport, no energy needed); 2) active transporters using electrochemical energy, redox or light potential, coupled to ions or by ATP hydrolysis; 3) transport of solutes (ions, protons, small hydrophobic molecules) mediated by pore-forming channels across the membrane (CONDE et al., 2010).

The assimilation of pentoses and high-yield microbial growth using these sugars as the only carbon source assumes the existence of an efficient transport system across the membrane that does not limit the catabolic pathway. D-xylose transport in yeast is accomplished via low and high affinity systems. Among these systems are the facilitated diffusion and the symporter mechanism linked to proton cotransport and depend on the nutritional status of the yeast. For example, *Rhodotorula glutinis* has at least one low and one high-affinity transport system for D-xylose. The high-affinity system is repressed when yeast grows in xylose and derepressed in starvation. Both systems are totally repressed by glucose, indicating that they are the same ones that transport this sugar (KILIAN; VAN UDEN, 1988).

On the path to achieving second-generation ethanol, many recent studies have focused on genetically engineering *S. cerevisiae* to produce ethanol from xylose as well (MOON et al., 2013). Several xylose-specific membrane transporters and enzymes found in yeasts that assimilate this pentose and produce ethanol more efficiently have been cloned and expressed (SHARMA et al., 2018).

However, xylose transport is restricted in the presence of glucose through competitive inhibition when both of them are available. Yeasts use glucose first and then xylose, performing a diauxic growth and comprising two lag phases (LEE et al., 2002). Therefore, for decades, the barrier for researchers has been the inhibition of xylose and other pentose assimilation in the presence of glucose within ethanol-producing strains, which prevents co-fermentation of both sugars (JEFFRIES; JIN, 2004).

Most metabolic engineering approaches focus on internal cellular pathways, such as replacing low-capacity enzymes with more active versions or even inserting genes to create new pathways or optimize those that are not very expressive in the native microorganism (MATSUSHIKA; SAWAYAMA, 2010). However, the proteins involved in the transmembrane transport system of pentoses haven't been explored sufficiently, and few tools have been developed to modify them (BETTIGA et al., 2009).

Although successful engineering works on *S. cerevisiae* with the expression of up to six key xylose metabolic enzymes (XI, XK, TAL, TKL) (KUYPER et al., 2005) have increased xylose consumption or fermentation, xylose transport still requires optimization to achieve a sufficient sugar flux to maintain the optimized cytoplasmic pathway.

Several studies have focused on improving pentose transport in *S. cerevisiae* via expression of heterologous transporters (SILVA et al., 2019; DU; LI; ZHAO, 2010; LEANDRO; SPENCER-MARTINS; GONÇALVES, 2008; SALOHEIMO et al., 2007; WEIERSTALL; HOLLENBERG; BOLES, 1999).

Therefore, despite some successful investigations describing the production of ethanol from xylose fermentation by engineered strains of *S. cerevisiae*, the yield achieved by these engineered strains is similar to that of xylose-fermenting species. The use of xylose is slow and only occurs after glucose depletion, thus limiting the economic viability of industrial fermentations to produce ethanol (FARIA et al., 2014; HECTOR et al., 2013).

Yeasts known to assimilate xylose efficiently have served as a source of genes for metabolic engineering of *S. cerevisiae*. Alternatively, these yeasts can also be used to obtain products with high added value, such as the production of glycolipid biosurfactants (FARIA et al., 2014), as well as the production of xylitol and arabitol (GÍRIO et al., 2000). In addition, the

production of alternative compounds, like organic acids (CHEN; ZHU; XIA, 2014; YE et al., 2013; ZHAO et al., 2013), lipids for biodiesel production (BABAU et al., 2013; GAO et al., 2013; IVERSON et al., 2013), isobutanol (MONDALA et al., 2013) and hydrogen (BRAT; BOLES, 2013).

Consequently, investigations that consider evaluating the capacity of xylose consumption by other yeasts are of exceptional contribution to this area of biotechnology since these yeasts can be explored in-depth for a greater understanding of the mechanisms of xylose assimilation and, in future studies, enable heterologous expression of more specific transporters for xylose without competitive inhibition by glucose.

Figure 5 shows an idealized virtual *S. cerevisiae* and explains how it is vital to look for specific pentose transporters, which, when combined with its already efficient D-glucose transporters, will enhance the organism's ability to metabolize pentoses and hexoses found in lignocellulosic material.



Figure 5 - Yeast with ideal properties for fermenting plant biomass pentose and hexose sugars.

Source: (GAO; PLOESSL; SHAO, 2019).

#### 2.9 Biotechnological applications

About 200 value-added compounds can be obtained from lignocellulosic biomass, which is therefore benefitted by its high availability and low cost. Nonetheless, producing these chemicals with increased selectivity and yields at reasonable prices and on industrial scales remains a huge challenge to be overcome (AREVALO-GALLEGOS et al., 2017; KUMAR et al., 2018a; MORGAN et al., 2017).

The pentoses derived from the plant biomass with the higher levels of oxygen present in the biomass make it more suitable for the production of plenty of these value-added chemicals, such as biobutanol, biohydrogen, biopolymer, 2, 3- butanediol, 1, 3- propanediol, organic acids, xylitol, furfural, single-cell protein, and amino acids, among many others (KUMAR et al., 2018b).

Xylitol ( $C_5H_{12}O_5$ ) is a polyol with a high sweetening capacity and fewer calories when compared to sucrose. Because of its anti-diabetic, antioxidant, and anti-carcinogenic properties, it is applied in the food and dental products industries (DASGUPTA et al., 2017). ALBUQUERQUE et al. (2014) discussed its production from corncob by *Candida tropicalis*.

Bioethanol is a clean non-petroleum liquid fuel that reduces CO<sub>2</sub> and greenhouse gas emissions. Bioethanol is used as a transportation fuel in Brazil, the USA, and some other places in the world. And as an additive to gasoline to improve its consumption and burning process. Many fungal and bacterial species, including *Fusarium*, *Rhizopus*, *Neurospora*, and *Klebsiella*, *Bacillus*, and *Aeromonas*, have been reported as ethanol producers from pentose (CHANDEL; SINGH; VENKATESWAR RAO, 2010; HILL et al., 2006; KIM et al., 2009; KUNDU; LEE, 2016).

2,3-Butanediol (2,3-BD) is a significant chemical organic compound. Its toxicity level compared to other alcohols is low. 2,3-BD is applied in various industries such as agrochemicals, pharmaceuticals, plasticizers, perfumes, etc. (LEE; LAVOIE, 2013; NANDA et al., 2015). KIM et al. (2014) reported the xylose conversion to 2,3-BD by engineered *S. cerevisiae*.

Organic acids such as lactic acid, acetic acid, citric acid, itaconic acid, fumaric acid, gluonic acid, succinic acid, xylonic acid, among others, are very important chemical products with several industrial applications in food, cosmetics, textiles, pharmaceuticals, chemicals, etc. They can be generated by many microorganisms, including bacteria, fungus, yeast, cyanobacteria, and algae. Each biocatalyst of these has outperformed the others in one or more ways, such as a broader substrate range, higher yield and productivity, fewer nutritional needs,

or enhanced purity (ABDEL-RAHMAN; TASHIRO; SONOMOTO, 2013; CARVALHEIRO; DUARTE; GÍRIO, 2008; CHANDEL; SINGH; VENKATESWAR RAO, 2010; MUSSATTO et al., 2010). *Glucanobacter oxydans* converts non-glucose sugars present in the biomass into sugar acids. These non-glucose mixed sugar acids (xylonate, arabonate, mannonate, and galactonate) exhibited cement retarding setting properties (YAO; HOU; BAO, 2017).

As environmental awareness has grown in recent years, the need for biopolymers that degrade has also increased. The possibility of producing bio-based polymer materials from lignocellulosic biomass organic acids to substitute petroleum-based plastics makes the process much more viable economically and environmentally, which has increased the interest in these organic acids lately (MAGALHÃES JÚNIOR et al., 2021; SINDHU et al., 2013). Figure 6 shows selected organic acids, their main applications in the polymer industry, and their production volumes.

Other products, like furfural, which are used in the production of different chemicals and solvents, amino acids, single-cell protein, and yeast extract are compounds with intriguing applications in various industries like animal feed, additives, flavor enhancers, cosmetic ingredients, pharmaceuticals, and others (KUMAR et al., 2018b).



Figure 6 - Some Organic acids produced from lignocellulosic biomass hydrolysates and their main applications.

Source: (MAGALHÃES JÚNIOR et al., 2021).

#### **3 OBJECTIVES**

#### **3.1 General Objective**

Explore the possibility of future improvement and potential biotechnological application of two pentose-assimilating yeasts isolated from the environment.

#### 3.2 Specific Objectives

Evaluate the yeasts' tolerance to furfural, HMF, ferulic acid, vanillin, acetic acid, and formic acid.

Evaluate the ethanol production capacity during alcoholic fermentation in the YEPX medium.

#### **4 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 4.1 Microorganisms

In this work, strains of the yeasts *P. ofunaensis* 1A-14 and *T. multisporum* 1A-10 (Figures 7 and 8), were isolated from the environment and stored in the working collection of the Laboratory of Biochemistry and Applied Microbiology, IBILCE/UNESP, in São José do Rio Preto (VAZ et al., 2021).

The species identification was carried out by researchers from the Microbiology Laboratory of the Center for the Study of Social Insects (CEIS) under Prof. Dr. Fernando Carlos Pagnocca's coordination, through sequencing of the rDNA D1/D2 domains (PAGNOCCA et al., 2008).

The conservation of pure cultures was carried out for storage at -80 °C. Glass beads washed with nitric acid and sterilized were added to the yeast suspension, which was kept overnight in glycerol (15%) in the freezer at -20 °C and then transferred to a freezer at -80 °C.


Figure 7 - P. ofunaensis (right) and T. multisporum (left) yeasts in a Petri dish.

Source: Own Authorship.

Figure 8 - P. ofunaensis (right) and T. multisporum (left) yeasts under microscope.

Source: Own Authorship.

## 4.2 Strains cultivation and quantification of growth in xylose

Depending on the experiments carried out by Vaz (2020), which tested the most suitable growth conditions for yeasts *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* in different temperatures (28 °, 32 °, 36 °C) and different pH levels (4.5, 6.5, 8.5) in the culture media, the results of these experiments showed that the most proper conditions for the growth of these two yeasts are a 28 °C temperature and pH level of 4.5, so in this work, these same conditions have been applied for tolerance test experiments.

#### 4.2.1 The pre-inoculum preparation

Cells of *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* were removed from the stock in a freezer at -80 °C and grown in a petri dish containing 30 mL of YEPD with the following composition (g/L): yeast extract (10.0), peptone (20.0), glucose (20.0) and agar (15.0), for 48 hours at 28 °C. Subsequently, one colony was resuspended by gently scraping the culture surface on the plate of each species in 100 mL of liquid YEPD medium contained in 250 mL of Erlenmeyer, for 24 hours at 28 °C under 150 rpm agitation.

The pre-inoculum was centrifuged at 10,000 xg for 10 minutes at 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded, then the pellet was resuspended in 200 mL of sterile distilled water and centrifuged under the same conditions mentioned above. Then the supernatant was discarded, and the biomass was resuspended in 20 mL of sterilized distilled water. This cell suspension was used to inoculate the culture medium.

## 4.2.2 Cultivation of microorganisms in media containing xylose and glucose

To assess the xylose's best growth condition, the submerged yeast culture was performed in a 250 mL Erlenmeyer containing 100 mL of YEPX medium with the following composition (g/L): yeast extract (10.0), peptone (20.0) and xylose (20.0), at 28 °C and 150 rpm for 96 hours, with pH adjusted to 4.5 using ortho-Phosphoric acid 85% (H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>). For comparison purposes, the microbial growth in medium containing glucose 20 g/L (YEPD) and base YEP (20 g/L peptone and 10 g/L yeast extract) was also evaluated under the same growth conditions. All culture media were inoculated with cell suspension to initiate growth with an optical density (O.D.) of 0.1 at 600 nm. All cultivations were carried out in duplicate (n=2).

# 4.2.3 Growth quantification, pH measurement, and sugar assimilation of culture media containing xylose

Aliquots of 1.5 mL were taken every 4 hours for 12 hours a day, for a total time of 96 hours for the experiment. The samples were shaken, and the optical density (O.D.) was measured in a spectrophotometer at 600 nm in triplicate (n=3). The results were expressed in base 10 log. After that, the samples were centrifuged at 8,000 rpm for 10 min to discard the biomass.

Finally, the pH of the medium and the consumption of sugar were evaluated. pH was measured at every point for the first 12 hours and after that, every 12 hours.

The evaluation of sugar assimilation by the yeasts *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* in the YEPX media was performed through the measurement of reducing sugars using the DNS method (3,5-dinitrosalicylic acid) (MILLER G.L., 1959). The tests were carried out in triplicate for each culture replicate using 10  $\mu$ L of the supernatant from the centrifuged medium, diluted in 90  $\mu$ L of water and 100  $\mu$ L of DNS, conducted by a thermal cycler for 10 minutes at 95 °C, followed by cooling at 4 °C for 1 minute, and then measured in a spectrophotometer at 540 nm.

# 4.2.4 Standardization of the inoculum

The fermentation was carried out in 125 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing 25 mL of YEPD medium (10 g/L yeast extract, 20 g/L peptone, 20 g/L glucose) for 24 hours at 28 °C with agitation of 150 rpm. During the fermentation time, dilutions of the culture were made, and absorbances were measured at 600 nm. After that, the same suspensions were centrifuged at 10,000 xg for 15 minutes, with the supernatant discarded. Then, the cells were suspended in distilled water and centrifuged again. Finally, the cell pellet was kept in an oven at 60 °C until it reached a constant weight.

Dependent on these data, a calibration curve was constructed, plotting the absorbance values representing the corresponding cell density and dry weight, obtaining a linear regression equation. This equation was used to estimate the cell mass to be used for inoculum and monitor cell growth during cultivation in fermentation media.

The determination of cell viability was monitored using the erythrosine B staining method and counted in a Neubauer chamber. Viable cells were colorless, while non-viable cells were red (KAMILOGLU et al., 2020).

## 4.2.5 Yeast tolerance test to different inhibitor compounds

The inhibitor concentrations applied in these tolerance tests depend on the amount of these inhibitors formed during the pretreatment processes of lignocellulosic biomass. Pacheco et al. (2021) reported a furfural concentration of 0.20 g/L in a sugarcane bagasse hydrolysate pretreated with diluted sulfuric acid. Deacetylated corn stover with sulfuric acid pretreatment analyzed by Yang et al. (2018) had 0.17 g/L. HMF concentrations were reported at 0.02 g/L by Pacheco et al. (2021) and 0.12 g/L in sugarcane bagasse pretreated hydrothermally by Zetty-arenas et al. (2019), who also showed the presence of 0.18 g/L of formic acid in the same sample.

In spruce hydrolysate, Adeboye et al, (2014) found 0.043 to 0.045 g/L of ferulic acid and 0.036 g/L of vanillin, while Yang et al. (2018) found 0.09 g/L of vanillin in deacetylated corn stover. Cola et al. (2020) counted the existence of ferulic acid (0.26 mM - 0.29 mM) and acetic acid (74.14 mM - 137.89 mM) in the liquor of two samples of sugarcane bagasse pretreated by a steam explosion (STEX) with dilute phosphoric acid.

Therefore, tested concentrations correspond to those that would be verified in pretreatment processes of lignocellulosic hydrolysates. In the YEPX medium, yeast tolerance was tested for furfural, HMF, ferulic acid, vanillin, acetic acid, and formic acid. The compounds and their tested concentrations are listed in table 2. As a control, YEPX medium was used but no inhibitor was added. The incubation and growth evaluation were carried out as previously described.

Inhibitor	Concentrations (g.L <sup>-1</sup> )				References	
Furfural	0.192	0.480	0.960	1.441	1.921	(PACHECO et al., 2021)
HMF	0.252	0.630	1.261	1.891	2.522	(PACHECO et al., 2021)
Vanillin	0.152	0.304	0.456	0.760	1.521	(YANG et al., 2018)
Ferulic acid	0.097	0.194	0.388	0.582	-	(COLA et al., 2020)
Acetic acid	1.201	2.402	3.603	4.804	-	(COLA et al., 2020)
Formic acid	0.460	0.920	1.380	1.841	-	(ZETTY-ARENAS et al., 2019)

Table 2 - Analyzed inhibitor compounds and tested concentration range.

## 4.2.6 Yeast tolerance test to combined inhibitor compounds

After individual assessment of each inhibitor's effect on the yeasts' performance in growth and xylose consumption aspects, the impact of these inhibitors was tested once more,

but this time concurrently, as a way of simulating a liquid hydrolyzate that results from the pretreatment processes in which these six inhibitors, among others, might be produced.

The culture media were prepared using the following inhibitors' concentrations: 5 mM furfural, 5 mM HMF, 2 mM ferulic acid, 2 mM vanillin, 20 mM acetic acid, and 10 mM formic acid, which were almost the least tested concentrations individually of these inhibitors.

## 4.3 Ethanol production assay

For ethanol production evaluation, alcoholic fermentation was assayed in 125 mL Erlenmeyer flasks adapted for alcoholic fermentation, closed with a valve containing 5 mL of sodium metabisulfite solution at 1 g/L to confirm that no oxygen could enter. 25 mL of saline culture medium, composed of KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (2.0 g/L), (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (2.0 g/L), MgSO<sub>4</sub>·7H<sub>2</sub>O (1.0 g/L), urea (0.3 g/L), CaCl<sub>2</sub> (0.3 g/L), yeast extract (10.0 g/L), and xylose (50.0 g/L) without inhibitor compounds (MARTINS et al., 2018). The tests were carried out in duplicate at 28 °C and 150 rpm. The initial cell inoculation was 0.5 O.D. at 600 nm, while the initial pH was 4.5. Two fermentation flasks of each yeast were collected at 24, 48, 72, and 96 hours of fermentation, analyzed for their cellular growth, residual sugar, and pH, and then preserved frozen at -20 °C.

# 4.4Ethanol identification and quantification

The detection and quantification of ethanol were performed by a capillary column BD-EN14103 of 30 meters in length, 0.32 mm in diameter, and 0.25  $\mu$ m in film thickness coupled to PerkinElmer Clarus 480 Gas Chromatography. The initial temperature was 40 °C, and after that, the heating rate was increased by 15 °C/minute up to 150 °C. The total runtime was 7 minutes and 33 seconds. The injector temperature was 200 °C, and the detector temperature was 250 °C.

Samples with 5 mL of fermentation media were prepared using headspace vials. After that, the samples were heated for 10 minutes at 40 °C. Then a gas-tight 500  $\mu$ L syringe was used to inject 100  $\mu$ L of the vapor in splitless mode. The flow rates of H<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> (compressed air) were 45 mL/min and 450 mL/min, respectively. The carrier gas used in this experiment was N<sub>2</sub>, with a flow rate of 1,7 mL/min.

The quantification was performed with a calibration curve constructed from the analysis of (ethanol:water) solutions in different proportions (0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1.0%, w/w).

## **5 RESULTS & DISCUSSIONS**

#### 5.1 Furan aldehydes inhibitors

#### 5.1.1 Furfural effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption

Yeasts *P. ofunaensis* (Figures 9A and 10A) and *T. multisporum* (Figures 9B and 10B) were able to grow and consume xylose in fermentative YEPX culture media containing furfural in several concentrations. Table 3 shows, in a condensed form, tested concentrations, achieved optical densities (OD), xylose consumption, and pH data gathered after 96 hours of fermentation of YEPX culture media containing furfural as inhibitor.

**Table 3 -** Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing furfural after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum*.

Specie	Furfural Concentration	Final <b>OD</b>	Final <b>pH</b>	Sugar Consumption
	0 mM	6.48	4.67	100% (84h)
	2 mM	6.63	4.55	100% (84h)
Defense	5 mM	7.59	4.59	100% (84h)
P. ojunaensis	10 mM	7.22	4.66	100% (84h)
	15 mM	6.71	4.64	100% (96h)
	20 mM	2.29	4.54	43% (96h)
	0 mM	3.40	6.19	50% (96h)
	2 mM	3.07	6.01	42% (96h)
$T \sim 1$	5 mM	2.86	5.95	40% (96h)
1. multisporum	10 mM	2.63	6.03	42% (96h)
	15 mM	1.57	6.15	41% (96h)
	20 mM	0.10	4.65	15% (96h)

Source: own authorship.

The yeast *P. ofunaensis* in the fermentative culture media containing concentrations 2 and 5 mM of furfural exhibited similar behavior to the medium without inhibitor (control), it quickly moved from the lag to the exponential phase, where it showed an accelerated increase in the growth rates during the first 24 hours, followed by a continuation of growth yet with lower rates during the second 24 hours. At 48 hours after the beginning of fermentation, the growth rates moderately stabilized and entered the stationary phase, which continued until the end of the assay after 96 hours.

The medium with a 10 mM concentration took the yeast about 12 hours to move from the lag phase to the exponential phase when the growth rates continued to rise quickly, and they moved to the stationary phase 48 hours after the initiation of the fermentative process. It finished the assay with growth rates close to the control and the other two previous concentrations. At a 15 mM medium concentration, the yeast needed 36 hours to move from the lag phase to the exponential phase, when the growth rates started to rise rapidly until the 72nd hour of the experiment. But after that, it continued to grow at a slower pace.

While the culture medium with the 20 mM concentration required about 76 hours to move from the lag to the exponential phase, the growth rates started to increase significantly after 80 hours from the start of the fermentative process, which continued to rise until the end of the experiment after 96 hours.

The yeast *T. multisporum* in the fermentative culture media containing a concentration of 2 mM of furfural exhibited a slight decrease in behavior compared to the medium without the inhibitor (control). It quickly moved from the lag to the exponential phase, where it showed an accelerated increase in the growth rates during the first 32 hours, followed by a continuation of growth yet with lower degrees when its rates moderately stabilized and entered the stationary phase, which continued until the end of the assay after 96 hours.

The medium with a 5 mM concentration took the yeast about 4 hours to move from the lag phase to the exponential phase, when the growth rates continued to rise quickly and moved to the stationary phase 32 hours after the initiation of the fermentative process. It finished the experiment with growth rates slightly behind the control and the previous concentration. At the 10 mM medium concentration, the yeast required about 12 hours to move from the lag phase to the exponential phase, when the growth rates started to rise rapidly until the 36th hour of the assay. After that, it continued to grow at a slower pace.

With the culture medium containing the 15 mM concentration, about 60 hours were needed to move from the lag to the exponential phase. Then the growth rates accelerated significantly after that, which continued to rise until the end of the assay, which took 96 hours. *T. multisporum* has not grown at the highest tested concentration (20 mM).

*P. ofunaensis* showed great xylose assimilation, depleting all the sugar in the media, including concentrations of 2 to 10 mM of the inhibitor, during 84 hours from the beginning of the fermentation assay, and consuming 43% of the xylose in the medium with the highest concentration (20 mM furfural) after 96 hours. On the other hand, *T. multisporum* had a lower assimilation capacity when exposed to furfural. In concentrations between 2 mM and 15 mM, the yeast was able to tolerate the presence of the compound, consuming about 41% of the sugar in the culture media.

When comparing the pH variations of the two yeasts' culture media (Figures 11A and B), *P. ofunaensis*' cultivation shows no considerable fluctuations. The medium's pH varies from 4.5 to 5 and then returns to decrease again at the end of the 96 hours. On the other hand, *T. multisporum* shows an increase in pH, from pH 4.5 to 6 at the end of 96 hours.

**Figure 9** - Cellular Growth in culture media containing furfural inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 10** - Xylose assimilation in culture media containing furfural inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 11 -** pH variation in culture media containing furfural inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

## 5.1.2 HMF effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption

Yeasts *P. ofunaensis* (Figures 12A and 13A) and *T. multisporum* (Figures 12B and 13B) were able to grow and consume xylose in fermentative YEPX culture media containing HMF in several concentrations. Table 4 shows, in a condensed form, the tested concentrations, the optical density, xylose consumption, and pH data gathered at the end of fermentation of YEPX culture media containing HMF in different concentrations.

Spacia	HMF	Einal <b>OD</b>	Final <b>nU</b>	Sugar
Specie	Concentration	Final <b>OD</b>	rinai <b>pri</b>	Consumption
	0 mM	6.85	4.47	100% (84h)
	2 mM	6.62	4.45	100% (84h)
D of magnetic	5 mM	6.68	4.46	100% (84h)
P. Ofundensis	10 mM	6.51	4.42	100% (84h)
	15 mM	6.32	4.30	100% (84h)
	20 mM	6.46	4.27	100% (84h)
T. multisporum	0 mM	5,10	6.57	54% (96h)
	2 mM	4.94	6.54	48% (96h)
	5 mM	4,88	6.31	53% (96h)
	10 mM	4.83	6.28	50% (96h)
	15 mM	4,44	6.38	44% (96h)
	20 mM	4,24	6.28	44% (96h)

**Table 4 -** Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing HMF after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum*.

Source: own authorship.

Unlike furfural, figure (12A) shows that HMF does not cause an extensive lag phase. The cellular growth profile for the yeast *P. ofunaensis* in all tested concentrations represented similar behavior to that of the control culture medium, with a minor delay in the highest two concentrations. The accelerated yeast growth began even before the first sample point reading (4 hours) after the inoculation started.

Likewise, *T. multisporum* suffered little in the presence of this inhibitor. The fermentative culture media containing concentrations of 2, 5, and 10 mM of HMF exhibited a similar growth profile to control, with a minor decrease in the 10 mM concentration, where 52 hours were needed to reach the stationary phase, which continued until the end of the assay. The higher two concentrations showed a late response compared to the rest, which required more time to move from the lag to the log phase, followed by a continuation of growth until 60 hours, when growth rates moderately stabilized and entered the stationary phase, which continued until the end of the assay after 96 hours.

As in furfural, *P. ofunaensis* showed excellent xylose consumption, depleting all the sugar in the media in all concentrations during 84 hours from the beginning of the fermentation assay. Alternatively, *T. multisporum* is the species with the lower assimilation capacity. At concentrations between 2 mM and 10 mM, the yeast was able to consume about 50% of the sugar in the culture media during 96 hours, while in the presence of the two higher tested concentrations (15 and 20 mM), the yeast displayed less performance, with a consumption of about 44% of the xylose in the culture media at the end of 96 hours.

When comparing the pH variations of the two yeasts' culture media (Figures 14 A and B), *P. ofunaensis* cultivation shows no considerable variations. The medium's pH varies from 4.5 to 4.75 and then returns to decrease again at the end of the 96 hours. It's noticeable that the higher the inhibitor concentration, the lower the pH reaches at the end of the assay. At the end of 96 hours, *T. multisporum* shows an increase in pH of about 6 to 6.5.

**Figure 12** - Cellular Growth in culture media containing HMF inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



**Figure 13** - Xylose assimilation in culture media containing HMF inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 14 -** pH variation in culture media containing HMF inhibitor (2-20 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

## 5.1.3 Discussion

*P. ofunaensis* displayed a better performance than *T. multisporum* in the presence of furfural inhibitor in all tested concentrations, as it was able to grow in all of them, while *T. multisporum* could not do so since it did not tolerate the highest tested concentration (20 mM), the one that *P. ofunaensis* was able to grow in, even after a lag phase that lasted for about 72 hours. As for the rest of the concentrations, both yeasts were able to grow in them, even with different performance between the two yeasts, which was always in favor of *P. ofunaensis*.

Also, *P. ofunaensis* was able to deplete all the sugar available in the medium except in the highest concentration, while *T. multisporum* yeast could not consume more than 42% of the sugar in the medium in the lowest concentration (2 mM).

*P. ofunaensis* showed a slight increase in pH that continued until the cells reached the stationary phase, and then it appeared to acidify the media. As for *T. multisporum*, the alkalinity of the culture medium kept increasing during cellular growth. It can be suggested that *T. multisporum* uses facilitated diffusion to uptake xylose, while *P. ofunaensis* uses sugar/H<sup>+</sup> symporters for D-xylose, similar to that exhibited by *P. guilliermondii* (SILVA et al., 2020). As *P. ofunaensis* starts to transport this pentose jointly with H<sup>+</sup>, the extracellular pH increases slightly, but tends to decrease as this sugar is consumed. Sugar/H<sup>+</sup> symports are directly influenced by the plasma membrane H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase (FERREIRA et al., 2013). The reduction in extracellular pH may also be related to the secretion of metabolites such as organic acids (MURAKAMI et al., 2011).

Monteiro (2020) tested the growth of the yeasts *Sporidiobolus pararoseus* U3 and *Pichia terricola* G20 in YEPD medium containing furfural. The cultures took place in 96-well plates and were left to incubate for 72 hours in a SpectraMaxplus 384 spectrophotometer, which kept the temperature at 29 °C and took O.D. measurements at  $600_{nm}$  automatically every hour.

*S. pararoseus* U3 was able to tolerate the lowest tested concentration only (0.04 g/L furfural) and was able to increase its optical density by nearly two and a half times, but could not grow in the rest, which makes it more sensible than *T. multisporum* and *P. ofunaensis*. As for *P. terricola* G20, it was able to grow in all tested concentrations. Its growth has more than quadrupled at the lowest tested concentration, tripled at the second, and more than doubled at the third. These results show its clear superiority in the ability to tolerate the presence of furfural

inhibitor in high concentrations over yeasts *T. multisporum* and *S. pararoseus* U3, and an equivalent performance with *P. ofunaensis* in terms of tolerating the highest concentration.

Sitepu et al. (2014) tested 48 different yeasts in a saline medium that contains glucose as the sole carbon source in the presence of furfural as an inhibitor with two different concentrations (0.5 and 1.0 g/L), where all cultures were incubated in a roller drum at room temperature (23 °C). Relative growth was visually scored at 3, 7, 10, and 14 days after inoculation. Half of them were able to grow in the weakest concentration, but 18 of those showed a growth delay or a lag phase before they could move on. The matter differed considerably with doubling the furfural concentration, where the number of yeasts that were able to tolerate this concentration was reduced to only 7, and one of them showed a delay in growth.

This study included the yeasts *T. coremiiforme*, *T. dermatis*, and *T. guehoae*, which belong to the same genus as *T. multisporum*. All of these yeasts could not grow in the higher tested concentration (1.0 g/L), but they could tolerate the lower one (0.5 g/L), although they all showed a growth delay, where it took them some time to move on to the log phase, this makes these yeasts more sensitive to furfural than *T. multisporum*, which showed tolerance to this inhibitor at about 1.5 g/L.

Regarding the performance of the two yeasts in the presence of HMF, both yeasts could grow in all tested concentrations, with an advantage for *P. ofunaensis* since it was able to grow in all concentrations like that of control, while with *T. multisporum*, the inhibitor influenced its growth, the higher the HMF concentration, the lower the yeast performance.

*P. ofunaensis* exhausted all the available sugar in the media within 84 hours at all concentrations. Still, for *T. multisporum*, it could provide nearly half the performance compared to *P. ofunaensis*, as it consumed about 53% of the sugar in the medium at best.

Among the *S. pararoseus* U3 and *P. terricola* G20 yeasts that Monteiro (2020) tested with HMF inhibitor in three different concentrations (0.1, 2.5, and 5.0 g/L), and under the same conditions mentioned previously, *S. pararoseus* U3 was able to grow only at the lowest concentration and triplicate its growth rate, which again makes it more sensitive than *P. terricola* G20, *P. ofunaensis*, and *T. multisporum*. While *P. terricola* G20 was able to tolerate the first concentration, doubling its growth rate, but its growth in the second concentration was not that good, with just about a 25% increase from its initial inoculum, yet it did not grow in

the higher one, which makes *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* superior in terms of tolerance to this inhibitor as they showed better growth rates in the second concentration.

The Sitepu et al. (2014) experiment, which tested HMF at three concentrations (0.5, 1.0, 2.0 g/L) under the same conditions mentioned previously, showed that all the yeasts in the study were able to withstand the lowest tested concentration without exception. Only one of them showed a growth delay. At the middle concentration, 44 yeasts were able to grow at this concentration, even though 13 of them showed a delay in growth and needed some time to move to the log phase. At the higher tested concentration, the number of yeasts that could tolerate this concentration decreased to 38, of which 23 yeasts needed some time to move from the lag to the log phase.

Likewise, both yeast *T. coremiiforme* and *T. guehoae* could tolerate all concentrations tested, though *T. guehoae* showed a growth delay at the highest concentration tested. This performance puts them on par with *T. multisporum*. While *T. dermatis* managed to grow only in the lowest concentration, which makes it the least performer among all these yeasts in the presence of HMF.

#### 5.2 Phenolic compounds inhibitors

#### 5.2.1 Ferulic acid effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption

Yeasts *P. ofunaensis* (Figures 15A and 16A) and *T. multisporum* (Figures 15B and 16B) show the ability to xylose assimilation and cellular growth in fermentative YEPX culture media containing ferulic acid in several concentrations. When exposed to the inhibitor, both species were able to grow and assimilate pentose in all-tested concentrations. Table 5 shows, in a condensed form, the tested concentrations, the optical density, xylose consumption, and pH data gathered at the end of fermentation of YEPX culture media containing ferulic acid as inhibitor.

Spacia	Ferulic Acid	Einal OD	Final <b>nU</b>	Sugar
Specie	Concentration	Tillal <b>OD</b>	Fillal <b>pl1</b>	Consumption
	0 mM	7.23	4.42	100% (84h)
	0.5 mM	6.61	4.39	100% (96h)
P. ofunaensis	1 mM	5.75	4.39	100% (96h)
U	2 mM	5.33	4.28	100% (96h)
	3 mM	3.10	4.29	84% (96h)
	0 mM	5.17	6.59	49% (96h)
T. multisporum	0.5 mM	5.02	6.50	45% (96h)
	1 mM	4.78	6.42	45% (96h)
	2 mM	4.57	6.39	42% (96h)
	3 mM	4.67	6.28	40% (96h)

**Table 5** - Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing ferulic acid after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum*.

Source: own authorship.

As with HMF, ferulic acid did not have a powerful impact on the two yeasts. The cellular growth profile for the yeast *P. ofunaensis* in all tested concentrations represented similar behavior to that of the control culture medium, with some pause in the highest concentration. The accelerated yeast growth began even before the first sample point reading (4 hours) after the inoculation started. The growth rates began to settle after 24 hours, and then the yeast entered the stationary phase and continued until the end of the assay.

Moreover, the presence of this inhibitor had a minimal effect on *T. multisporum*. The fermentative culture media in all tested concentrations of ferulic acid displayed a similar growth profile to control. After 48 hours, the yeast reached the stationary phase, and the growth rates moderately stabilized, which continued until the end of the assay after 96 hours.

Unlike the previous two inhibitors, *P. ofunaensis* showed less xylose consumption in the presence of ferulic acid, depleting all the sugar in the media in all concentrations during 96 hours from the beginning of the fermentation assay, except for the highest concentration, in which the yeast consumed only 84% of the sugar available in the culture medium in 96 hours.

Additionally, *T. multisporum* in the first two concentrations (0.5 and 1 mM) was capable of consuming about 45% of the sugar existing in the culture media through 96 hours, but this consumption decreased with 2 mM concentration (42%) and 3 mM concentration (40%) at the end of 96 hours.

The pH variation graphs for *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* during the assay in culture media containing ferulic acid are presented in the figures 17A and 17B, respectively. The pH readings of *P. ofunaensis*' culture media didn't show any significant change. It rose during the first 12 hours of the assay and barely reached 4.7. After that, scores started to decrease slightly and stabilized after 60 hours from the beginning and continued until the end of the assay. The highest two concentrations scored a bit lower than the others. With similar behavior to HMF, *T. multisporum* showed a considerable increase in pH scores for all concentrations, reaching about 6.5 at the end of 96 hours. The higher the inhibitor concentration, the lower the pH score achieved.

**Figure 15** - Cellular Growth in culture media containing ferulic acid inhibitor (0.5-3 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 16** - Xylose assimilation in culture media containing ferulic acid inhibitor (0.5-3 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 17 -** pH variation in culture media containing ferulic acid inhibitor (0.5-3 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

## 5.2.2 Vanillin effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption

Yeasts *P. ofunaensis* (Figures 18A and19A) and *T. multisporum* (Figures 18B and19B) show the ability to xylose assimilation and cellular growth in fermentative YEPX culture media containing vanillin in several concentrations. When exposed to the inhibitor, *P. ofunaensis* was able to grow and assimilate pentose in all-tested concentrations, while *T. multisporum* could not grow in the highest concentration of the inhibitor (10 mM). Table 6 shows, in a condensed form, the tested concentrations, the optical density, xylose consumption, and pH data gathered at the end of fermentation of YEPX culture media containing vanillin in the tested concentrations.

Spacia	Vanillin	Einal <b>OD</b>	Einal <b>nU</b>	Sugar
Specie	Concentration		Tillai <b>pii</b>	Consumption
	0 mM	8.78	4.35	100% (84h)
	1 mM	6.69	4.37	100% (84h)
D. C	2 mM	7.13	4.35	100% (84h)
P. ofunaensis	3 mM	6.57	4.31	100% (84h)
	5 mM	6.93	4.28	100% (84h)
	10 mM	5.28	4.32	92% (96h)
T. multisporum	0 mM	6.84	6.85	50% (96h)
	1 mM	4.54	6.89	40% (96h)
	2 mM	4.13	7.18	31% (96h)
	3 mM	3.66	7.56	23% (96h)
	5 mM	1.74	7.26	11% (96h)
	10 mM	0.11	4.74	4% (96h)

**Table 6 -** Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing vanillin after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum*.

Source: own authorship.

*P. ofunaensis* in the culture media with the lowest two concentrations of vanillin (1 and 2 mM) displayed similar behavior to the medium without inhibitor (control) at the beginning of the fermentation. It showed an accelerated increase in the growth rates during the exponential phase in the first 24 hours, after which the growth speedup decreased, and the yeast then shifted to the stationary phase, preserving a growth profile similar to the control assay. For the concentrations of 3 mM and 5 mM, the yeast showed similar behavior to the previous ones, but with slower growth rates due to the higher inhibition ability. After moving to the stationary phase and until the end of the experiment, all these inhibitor concentrations showed somewhat similar effects on the yeast.

The lag phase continued for about 32 hours in the culture medium with the highest concentration (10 mM), then the growth rates started to increase and entered the log phase. After 72 hours, the stationary phase started and continued until the end of the assay.

The situation was a little different for the yeast *T. multisporum*. It was clear to observe that the higher the inhibitor concentration, the slower the growth rate. The concentrations of 1, 2, and 3 mM displayed growth steps similar to control, with a slight delay that would rise with the inhibitor concentration increase, and started the stationary phase after about 36 hours and until the end of the assay. At the penultimate tested concentration (5 mM), the yeast needed about 60 hours to start the lag to the log phase, which continued until the end of the experiment. The highest tested concentration (10 mM) of vanillin was able to inhibit the growth of *T. multisporum* during the 96 hours.

At the end of 84 hours, *P. ofunaensis* was able to deplete all the sugar in the media in all concentrations of the inhibitor except the highest one. Yet it needed 96 hours to consume 92% of the xylose in the culture medium with the highest tested concentration (10 mM).

However, *T. multisporum* is a species with a weaker ability to assimilate xylose in general. It showed a gradient of consumption inversely proportional to the inhibitor concentration. The yeast was able to tolerate the presence of vanillin at 1, 2, 3 and 5 mM, consuming 40%, 31%, 23%, and 11% of the sugar that exists in the culture medium, respectively. But at the highest tested concentration (10 mM), the yeast consumed just 4% of the available sugar in the culture medium.

We measured the pH variation in the culture of *P. ofunaensis* (Figure 20A) and *T. multisporum* (Figure 20B) in media containing vanillin. *P. ofunaensis* kept the same performance with no considerable fluctuations. The medium's pH increased a little to reach about 4.75 during the first 12 hours and then returned to decrease again at the end of the 96 hours. On the other hand, *T. multisporum* showed a considerable increase in pH, which was directly proportional to the inhibitor concentration that continued until the end of 96 hours.

**Figure 18** - Cellular Growth in culture media containing vanillin inhibitor (1-10 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 19 -** Xylose assimilation in culture media containing vanillin inhibitor (1-10 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 20 -** pH variation in culture media containing vanillin inhibitor (1-10 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

## 5.2.3 Discussion

Both *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* were able to tolerate the presence of ferulic acid inhibitor and grow in all tested concentrations. *P. ofunaensis* needed about 24 hours to move on to the stationary phase, and the effects of higher concentrations started to appear, assimilating just 84% of sugar at the end of the assay in this medium compared to the rest.

Still, *T. multisporum* presented a similar performance in all concentrations, and it took about 48 hours to transfer to the stationary phase, but the consumption of sugar in the higher concentration medium was about 5% less than the medium with a lower concentration and about 10% less than the control.

Again, the pH variations in the media during the growth of *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* were similar to those with the previous inhibitors evaluated (furfural and HMF), which can be proposed the same explanation mentioned previously.

In a cultivation of *Candida guilliermondii*, Pereira et al (2011) tested the inhibition effect of ferulic acid with three different concentrations (0.2, 0.4, and 0.6 g/L) in a semi-defined buffered culture medium containing xylose (80.0 g/L) and glucose (15.0 g/L) for 96 hours at  $30 \,^{\circ}$ C, 200 rpm.

The presence of ferulic acid in the fermentation medium had an effect on yeast cell growth at all tested concentrations, with a 15% reduction in cellular growth in the presence of the lowest tested concentration, a 23% decrease in the presence of the second concentration, and a 30% decrease in the presence of the highest one. On the other hand, ferulic acid did not affect xylose consumption at all of the tested amounts, as the yeast was able to consume about 87% of the xylose present in the medium after 96 hours.

Both *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* were able to grow on the same tested concentrations as *C. guilliermondii*, with better performance in cellular growth by *T. multisporum* and *P. ofunaensis*. The sugar consumption at the higher tested concentration was better in *C. guilliermondii* (87%), followed by *P. ofunaensis* (84%), and finally *T. multisporum* (40%).

In the experiment conducted by Yang et al. (2018) in saccharified slurries from deacetylated corn stover to determine the effect of ferulic acid at seven different concentrations, ranging between 0.009 and 0.9 g/L, on the growth of three types of bacteria, namely *C. necator*,

*E. coli*, and *R. opacus*, all tested bacteria showed the ability to grow in all concentrations, but with differences in the performance of each.

*C. necator* showed an increase of 8% in the growth rate in the lowest tested concentration and a decrease of 11% in the highest one. As for *E. coli*, ferulic acid had a stimulatory effect. The higher the inhibitor's concentration, the higher the growth rate, which reached about 20% compared to the control sample. For *R. opacus*, the inhibitor caused a growth decline of between 3% and 7% regardless of its concentration, which means there is no relation between the inhibitor's concentration and growth inhibition rates.

At the tested concentrations, vanillin was more intense than ferulic acid on the growth of the two yeasts, and this is clear in the highest concentration of vanillin 10 mM, as *P. ofunaensis* needed 24 hours to move to the log phase, while *T. multisporum* could not grow at the highest tested concentration and spent approximately 60 hours to reach the log phase at the 5 mM concentration of this inhibitor.

*P. ofunaensis* was able to deplete the sugar present in the medium in all concentrations within 96 hours, except for the highest concentration, where it consumed 92% of the sugar available in the medium. As for *T. multisporum*, its consumption ranged between 4% at the highest concentration and 40% at the lowest concentration of vanillin.

The inhibitory effect of phenolic compounds is generally determined by the presence and functionality of functional side groups (such as methoxy groups) and unsaturated bonds in the compound's structure (ADEBOYE; BETTIGA; OLSSON, 2014). For example, ferulic acid has two carbon atoms sharing a double bond, which links the carboxylic group to the aromatic ring.

Monteiro (2020) tested the tolerance of *S. pararoseus* U3 and *P. terricola* G20 yeasts to vanillin inhibitor at different concentrations (0.04, 1.0, 2.0 g/L) during a 72-hour experiment in YEPD media in 96-well plate static fermentation, as explained previously. *S. pararoseus* U3 was able to tolerate the lowest concentration of vanillin, where it almost increased four times its growth. *P. terricola* G20 was able to tolerate the two higher concentrations, albeit weakly compared to the lowest one, as it just increased two times its growth rates at the higher two concentrations and five times at the lower one, which makes it superior to both *S. pararoseus* U3 and *T. multisporum*, as both could not tolerate the second tested concentration. For *P. ofunaensis*, we did not test the higher concentration of vanillin (2.0 g/L) to find out if it could tolerate it.

Yang et al. (2018) measured the ability of three bacteria to tolerate vanillin inhibitor with seven different concentrations ranging between 0.002 and 0.2 g/L in saccharified slurries from deacetylated corn stover. At any concentration, vanillin could not completely inhibit the growth of all bacteria, but the *C. necator* showed a decrease in the growth level with an increase in the inhibitor's concentration. The growth rate decreased by 8% at the concentration of 0.05 g/L, which rose to 32% at 0.1 g/L, reaching nearly 42% at the highest concentration (0.2 g/L).

*E. coli* showed different performance as the growth rates increased with the rise in the vanillin's concentration, which reached about 6% in the highest concentrations. *R. opacus* also had a positive interaction with this compound in the lower concentrations, showing an increase of 5% in growth rates, but the highest concentration harmed the growth rates and showed a decrease of 8% compared to the control. It is possible to observe a relatively similar effect of vanillin at the highest tested concentrations in both *C. necator* and *T. multisporum* as it drastically reduces their growth rates compared to control. Although for *E. coli*, its vanillin tolerance was higher than *T. multisporum* at 0.2 g/L.

## 5.3 Aliphatic acids inhibitors

#### 5.3.1 Acetic acid effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption

Yeasts *P. ofunaensis* (Figures 21A and 22A) and *T. multisporum* (Figures 21B and 22B) show the ability to xylose assimilation and cellular growth in fermentative YEPX culture media containing acetic acid in several concentrations. Table 7 shows, in a condensed form, the tested concentrations, the optical density, xylose consumption, and pH data gathered at the end of fermentation of YEPX culture media containing acetic acid in the tested concentrations.

Spacia	Acetic Acid	Einal OD	Final <b>nU</b>	Sugar
Specie	Concentration	Final <b>OD</b>	rmai <b>pn</b>	Consumption
	0 mM	7.37	4.5	100% (84h)
	20 mM	7.17	4.74	100% (96h)
P. ofunaensis	40 mM	6.27	5.24	87% (96h)
-	60 mM	2.90	5.59	43% (96h)
	80 mM	0.10	4.44	21% (96h)
	0 mM	6.88	6.77	64% (96h)
	20 mM	5.63	6.76	48% (96h)
T. multisporum	40 mM	0.10	4.45	19% (96h)
-	60 mM	0.10	4.38	19% (96h)
	80 mM	0.10	4.36	16% (96h)

 Table 7 - Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing acetic acid after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum*.

Source: own authorship.

The concentration of 20 mM of acetic acid in the culture medium had no significant effect on *P. ofunaensis*, which showed similar growth to the control with just a 0.2 difference in the final optical density in 96 hours. The 20 mM concentration, along with control, started to grow immediately after the inoculation and entered the stationary phase within 48 hours. After 12 hours in the lag phase, the yeast in the 40 mM acetic acid culture medium shifted to the log phase and started to grow, and 72 hours were needed to reach the stationary phase. That was not the case for the cells in the medium with 60 mM of this inhibitor, which spent half the time of the experiment (48 hours) in the lag phase. After that, the growth started to accelerate until the end of the assay. The yeast could not grow in the culture medium with the highest concentration (80 mM). For *T. multisporum*, the case was totally different as the yeast could not tolerate the presence of this inhibitor and showed no growth at all tested concentrations but

the lowest one (20 mM), which required 8 hours to move from the lag to log phase, but also kept a growth profile parallel to that without the inhibitor (control).

At 96 hours cultivation, *P. ofunaensis* was able to deplete all the sugar in the culture medium containing 20 mM of acetic acid. None of the rest of the culture media with other concentrations showed 100% consumption even in 96 hours. Just 87% of the xylose in the culture medium with 40 mM of inhibitor was consumed. This percentage decreased with 60 mM to reach 43%, while at 80 mM of inhibitor, it barely passed 20%.

Nevertheless, *T. multisporum* consumed just 48% of the available xylose in the culture medium with a 20 mM acetic acid in 96 hours, which is 16% less than the sugar consumed by the control culture. The rest of the tested concentrations (40, 60 and 80 mM) could not pass a 19% of sugar consumption, with the lowest percentage result (16%) being at the highest concentration.

The pH variation graphs of *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* during cultivation in media containing acetic acid are shown in the figures 23A and B, respectively. This time the pH performance was very different for *P. ofunaensis*. The control kept the same profile behavior as other experiments, while other culture media showed totally different ones. The pH in the culture medium with a 20 mM of acetic acid passed 5.0 within 36 hours and then began to decrease progressively. After 24 hours, the pH in the 40 mM culture medium began to increase, reaching around 5.5 before it was lower again after 72 hours. The medium with 60 mM held the initial pH for 48 hours before it rose and kept this behavior until the end of the experiment. While in the highest concentration (80 mM), there is a tiny decrease at the beginning. After that, it held the pH score until the end.

While with *T. multisporum*, only the control assay and medium with 20 mM showed a pH variation. In the medium containing 20 mM acetic acid, the scores started to rise after about 12 hours and kept reaching up to hit the 6.5 score. The rest of the culture media showed no considerable change in pH during the experiment.

**Figure 21** - Cellular Growth in culture media containing acetic acid inhibitor (20-80 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 22** - Xylose assimilation in culture media containing acetic acid inhibitor (20-80 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 23** - pH variation in culture media containing acetic acid inhibitor (20-80 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.
#### 5.3.2 Formic acid effect on cellular growth and xylose consumption

Yeasts *P. ofunaensis* (Figures 24A and 25A) and *T. multisporum* (Figures 24B and 25B) show the ability to xylose assimilation and cellular growth in fermentative YEPX culture media containing formic acid in several concentrations. When exposed to this acid, both species were able to grow and assimilate pentose in all-tested concentrations. Table 8 shows, in a condensed form, the tested concentrations, the optical density, xylose consumption, and pH data gathered at the end of fermentation of YEPX culture media containing formic acid in different concentrations.

**Table 8** - Optical density and pH of YEPX culture media containing formic acid after 96 hours of incubation and sugar consumed during fermentation by *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum*.

Specie	Formic Acid Concentration	Final <b>OD</b>	Final <b>pH</b>	Sugar Consumption
P. ofunaensis	0 mM	7.29	4.38	100% (84h)
	10 mM	7.29	4.79	100% (96h)
	20 mM	6.92	5.26	100% (96h)
	30 mM	6.92	5.60	100% (96h)
	40 mM	6.47	5.77	93% (96h)
T. multisporum	0 mM	4.55	6.37	59% (96h)
	10 mM	4.69	7.28	54% (96h)
	20 mM	4.53	7.70	43% (96h)
	30 mM	3.80	7.92	40% (96h)
	40 mM	3.68	7.97	40% (96h)

Source: own authorship.

Formic acid did not cause an extensive lag phase. The cellular growth profile for the yeast *P. ofunaensis* at 10 mM of this acid expressed similar behavior to that of the control culture medium and a minor delay in the attendant two concentrations (20 and 30 mM). At the highest concentration tested (40 mM), the yeast spent 8 hours in the lag phase, followed by an accelerated growth until the 48th hour. After that, the yeast started the stationary phase.

Furthermore, *T. multisporum* was able to tolerate the presence of the formic acid. At the beginning of the log phase, each fermentative culture media concentration exhibited a similar growth profile to the control assay, with a small difference compared to the medium containing 40 mM of this acid. The yeast took 48 hours to reach the stationary phase, which continued until the end of the assay.

*P. ofunaensis* showed excellent xylose consumption, depleting all the sugar in the media before 96 hours at all concentrations, except the highest one, in which the yeast was able to consume 93% of the sugar in 96 hours. In contrast, in the medium containing 10 mM of formic acid, *T. multisporum* consumed 54% of the xylose at the end of 96 hours. This percentage dropped to 43% for the medium with 20 mM and about 40% for the 30 mM and 40 mM of formic acid, all in 96 hours.

The pH variation graphs of *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* during cultivation in media containing formic acid are shown in the figures 26A and B, respectively. Also, in the formic acid experiments, the pH variation of the media was unusual for *P. ofunaensis*. The control maintained the same profile behavior as the previous studies, while other culture media showed totally different scores. The pH in the culture medium with a 10 mM concentration passed 4.7 after 60 hours and then manifested a negligible decrease. At 12 hours after the inoculum, the pH of the medium with 40 mM formic acid began to increase, crossing pH 5.5 in 60 hours, and kept rising until the end of the 96 hours. Culture media with 20 mM and 30 mM of formic acid continued to ascent gradually for 84 hours, then showed a tendency to stabilize at the end. The explicit observation at the end of the experiment is that the higher the inhibitor concentration, the higher the pH reading.

While with the *T. multisporum*, the yeast increased the alkalinity of the culture media in all concentrations, almost reaching pH 8.0 in culture media containing 30 mM and 40 mM of formic acid, while pH of the media with 10 mM and 20 mM formic acid passed 7.0 and 7.5, respectively. It was also clear that the higher the inhibitor concentration, the higher the pH reading.

**Figure 24** - Cellular Growth in culture media containing formic acid inhibitor (10-40 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 25** - Xylose assimilation in culture media containing formic acid inhibitor (10-40 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

**Figure 26 -** pH variation in culture media containing formic acid inhibitor (10-40 mM) for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm, *P. ofunaensis* (A) and *T. multisporum* (B).



Source: own authorship.

### 5.3.3 Discussion

Acetic acid is the most harmful inhibitor of the growth of both yeasts. *T. multisporum* tolerated only the weakest concentration (20 mM). Even so, it took about 8 hours to move to the log phase. *P. ofunaensis* was unable to grow in the highest concentration (80 mM), but it was able to grow at the other concentrations tested, though it took up to 48 hours to enter the log phase at a 60 mM concentration. Sugar consumption was also affected by this effect. *T. multisporum* could not consume over 48% of the sugar in the unique concentration that was tolerated, while *P. ofunaensis* depleted all the available sugar only in the lowest tested concentration and within 96 hours.

Organic acids derived from the lignocellulosic biomass pre-treatment are weak acids because of their pK<sub>a</sub> values (4.25 for acetic acid and 3.75 for formic acid). They dissociate by entering the cell via the plasma membrane, increasing the intracellular pH, which forces the cell to export protons, spending ATP in return. This mechanism is responsible for the slower growth rate shown by cells exposed to weak acids (CASPETA; CASTILLO; NIELSEN, 2015; COLA et al., 2020; PAMPULHA; LOUREIRO-DIAS, 1990). The consumption of these weak acids by the cells might be the reason for the increase in pH at the beginning, while the release of protons by cells is the reason for acidifying the media after that.

In his experiment on *C. guilliermondii*, Pereira et al (2011) tested the inhibition effect of acetic acid with three different concentrations (0.8, 1.1, and 2.6 g/L) on cellular growth and xylose consumption under the same conditions mentioned previously. The presence of acetic acid in the fermentation medium had no effect on yeast cell growth at 0.8 g/L and 1.1 g/L, whereas the xylose consumption was only significantly affected at 2.6 g/L of acetic acid. Under this concentration value, cell growth and xylose consumption were reduced by 30% and 13%, respectively, compared with the control.

*P. ofunaensis* was able to grow on the same tested concentrations as *C. guilliermondii*, with a better performance in cellular growth by *P. ofunaensis* than *C. guilliermondii*. *T. multisporum* showed the lowest growth among these three yeasts, as it could grow only at 20 mM acetic acid (1.2 g/L). At the highest tested concentration, sugar consumption was similar in *C. guilliermondii* (86%) and *P. ofunaensis* (87%), while *T. multisporum* just consumed 19%.

Monteiro (2020) tested different concentrations (0.3, 8.0, and 15.0 g/L) of acetic acid on *S. pararoseus* U3 and *P. terricola* G20 yeasts at the same conditions mentioned previously. Both of them tolerated the lowest inhibitor concentration, duplicating their growth, but they

78

failed to withstand the other two concentrations. The range of tested concentrations by Monteiro (2020) is much higher than the ones we tested, which makes it impossible to compare between the yeasts. All four yeasts were able to grow at the lowest tested concentration.

Sitepu et al. (2014) tested only one concentration of acetic acid, 2.5 g/L, under the same conditions mentioned previously. Only 12 yeasts could tolerate this concentration, and one of these yeasts showed a delay in growth. *T. dermatis* and *T. guehoae* also failed to tolerate this concentration. Only *T. coremiiforme* was able to grow in the presence of acetic acid at this level, which makes it more tolerant than *T. multisporum*.

The two yeasts were able to tolerate all the selected concentrations of the formic acid inhibitor, although the higher concentration affected the performance of the *P. ofunaensis* as it took about 8 hours for the yeast to enter the log phase stage.

On the other hand, *T. multisporum* did not show this clear lag phase in the higher concentration. However, it could not drain over 54% of the sugar in the initial medium, and this percentage decreased to 40% in the highest one. *P. ofunaensis* exhausted sugar in all tested concentrations except for the highest one, depleting about 93% by the end of the experiment.

As in the acetic acid experiment, *P. ofunaensis* raised the alkalinity of the media in direct proportion to the inhibitor's concentration. *T. multisporum* showed the same behavior as well.

Monteiro (2020) tested the effect of formic acid at three concentrations (0.1, 2.5, and 5.0 g/L) in the cultivation of *S. pararoseus* U3 and *P. terricola* G20, at the same conditions mentioned previously. Both yeasts could tolerate just the first tested concentration and did not tolerate the other two. The range of tested concentrations by Monteiro (2020) is much higher than the ones we tested. This prevents the possibility of comparisons between yeasts. This result shows a similar performance between *S. pararoseus* U3, *P. terricola* G20, and *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* in the ability to grow in the presence of formic acid in this concentration range.

### 5.4 The combined impact of the tested inhibitors on the two yeasts

After individual assessment of each inhibitor's effect on the yeasts' performance in growth and xylose consumption aspects, the impact of these inhibitors was tested once more, but this time concurrently, as a way of simulating a liquid hydrolyzate that results from the pretreatment processes in which these six inhibitors, among others, might be produced.

The culture media were prepared using the following inhibitors' concentrations: 5 mM furfural, 5 mM HMF, 2 mM ferulic acid, 2 mM vanillin, 20 mM acetic acid, and 10 mM formic acid. In this experiment, neither of the two yeasts was able to tolerate the presence of these mixed chemicals.

## 5.5 Ethanol production, identification and quantification

An anaerobic fermentation assay was performed in duplicate using a saline culture media for ethanol production, identification, and quantification assessment. Figure 27 shows the cellular growth for both yeasts.

Even though the experiment started with five times the amount of initial inoculum (O.D 0.5 at  $600_{nm}$ ), and the culture media did not have any inhibitors and contained two and a half times the amount of xylose (50 g/L) compared to the aerobic assays, the growth level of the two yeasts was lower than the previous. This is expected for facultative anaerobic organisms, such as yeasts, which under aerobic conditions tend to develop higher biomass.

Cell growth was greater in the first 24 hours of fermentation than at 48 and 72 hours, especially for *P. ofunaensis*. Perhaps this was due to the oxygen present in the media at the beginning of the assay, and then after 96 hours of cultivation the yeasts reached their highest growth.





Source: own authorship.

At 24 hours, *P. ofunaensis* reached about O.D 3.39, while *T. multisporum* attended the O.D 1.53. The yeasts, *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* showed little change in their growth between 48 and 72 hours; *P. ofunaensis* ranged around O.D 2.60 while *T. multisporum* held its scores around 1.45. At the end of the assay, after 96 hours, *P. ofunaensis* touched O.D 3.7, while the best that *T. multisporum* reached was O.D 2.63. In other words, *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* increased seven and five times their cellular growth, respectively.

The xylose consumption was relatively proportional to cellular growth. *P. ofunaensis,* which grew more, has also consumed more xylose. In the 24h fermentation samples, the xylose consumption was around  $20\% \pm 4\%$ , while the 48h and 72h samples consumption was about 21% and 22%, respectively. However, the highest consumption was in the 96h samples that reached 25%. On the other hand, *T. multisporum* wasn't able to consume much xylose, assimilating around 10% to 14% of the available sugar during the whole assay (Figure 28).

Regarding the pH of the samples, the behavior of *P. ofunaensis* was quite constant during the whole assay, as it maintained the pH around 4.5 without any significant change from

the initial pH. Whereas *T. multisporum* was less conservative and kept its repeating conduct, increasing the pH of the culture medium (Figure 29).

As for ethanol production by yeasts, *P. ofunaensis* fermentation exhibited an unsatisfactory amount for application in larger-scale processes, generating a maximum of 0.51 g/L in the culture medium at 96 hours. *T. multisporum*, on the other hand, was not able to produce any amount of ethanol (Figure 28).

Martins (2011) evaluated the cellular growth, xylose consumption, and ability to produce ethanol in an alcoholic fermentation under quite similar conditions that we tested, but by adding 10% of xylose instead of 5%, temperature of 32 °C instead of 28 °C, and for 120 hours instead of 96 hours, for two yeasts; *Candida shehatae* BR6-2AY and *Rhodotorula* sp. G10.2.

Regarding cell growth, *C. shehatae* BR6-2AY was roughly able to triplicate its cellular mass during the anaerobic fermentation, while *Rhodotorula* sp. G10.2 duplicated its cellular growth within 96 hours. *C. shehatae* BR6-2AY sugar consumption was less than *Rhodotorula* sp. G10.2 consumption, they consumed 69.7 and 64.2% of xylose, respectively. In 96 hours of fermentation, *C. shehatae* BR6-2AY was able to produce around 2.6 g/L of ethanol, while *Rhodotorula* sp. G10.2 produced about 3.1 g/L.

**Figure 28** - Xylose consumption (symbols) and ethanol production (bars) during anaerobic cultivation of the yeasts *P. ofunaensis* (circle) and *T. multisporum* (triangle) in saline culture media for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm.



**Figure 29** - pH variation of the saline media during anaerobic cultivations of the yeasts *P. ofunaensis* and *T. multisporum* for 96 h at 28 °C and 150 rpm.



Source: own authorship.

#### **6 CONCLUSIONS**

The yeast *P. ofunaensis* exhibited more tolerant abilities toward potentially harmful chemicals than *T. multisporum*. Acetic acid had the most potent inhibitory effect, while HMF had the weakest inhibitory effect on yeast growth. The yeast *T. multisporum* had a poorer tolerance for the various inhibitors investigated, and its performance in terms of cellular growth and sugar consumption is considerably lower than that of *P. ofunaensis*.

Despite low ethanol production and low tolerance to the inhibitors tested, the yeast *P*. *ofunaensis* was able to consume all of the xylose in the YPX medium at pH 4.5, implying the possibility of using xylose/ $H^+$  symporters, which have been described as transporters with higher affinity for D-xylose. These findings support the continuation of research on xylose transporters.

In addition, this study can be a starting point for future projects expanding to a broader panel of xylose-assimilating yeast species that would be useful for the development of more robust industrial yeast strains able to utilize a broader range of the sugars present in the lignocellulosic hydrolyzate and tolerate higher levels of inhibitors derived from different pretreatment processes.

# REFERENCES

ABDEL-RAHMAN, M. A.; TASHIRO, Y.; SONOMOTO, K. Recent advances in lactic acid production by microbial fermentation processes. **Biotechnology Advances**, v. 31, n. 6, p. 877–902, 1 nov. 2013.

ADEBOYE, P. T.; BETTIGA, M.; OLSSON, L. The chemical nature of phenolic compounds determines their toxicity and induces distinct physiological responses in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in lignocellulose hydrolysates. **AMB Express**, v. 4, n. 1, p. 46, 1 dez. 2014.

AKOBI, C.; HAFEZ, H.; NAKHLA, G. The impact of furfural concentrations and substrateto-biomass ratios on biological hydrogen production from synthetic lignocellulosic hydrolysate using mesophilic anaerobic digester sludge. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 221, p. 598–606, 1 dez. 2016.

ALBUQUERQUE, T. L. DE et al. Biotechnological production of xylitol from lignocellulosic wastes: A review. **Process Biochemistry**, v. 49, n. 11, p. 1779–1789, 1 nov. 2014.

ALEXANDRATOS, N. WORLD AGRICULTURE TOWARDS 2030 / 2050 The 2012 Revision PROOF COPY. **ESA Working paper**, v. 12, n. 12, p. 146, 2012.

ALLEN, S. A. et al. Furfural induces reactive oxygen species accumulation and cellular damage in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. **Biotechnology for Biofuels**, v. 3, n. 1, p. 2, 15 dez. 2010.

ALMEIDA, J. R. et al. Increased tolerance and conversion of inhibitors in lignocellulosic hydrolysates by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology, v. 82, n. 4, p. 340–349, 1 abr. 2007.

AMOAH, J. et al. Co-fermentation of xylose and glucose from ionic liquid pretreated sugar cane bagasse for bioethanol production using engineered xylose assimilating yeast. **Biomass and Bioenergy**, v. 128, p. 105283, 1 set. 2019.

AREVALO-GALLEGOS, A. et al. Lignocellulose: A sustainable material to produce valueadded products with a zero waste approach-A review. **International journal of biological macromolecules**, v. 99, p. 308–318, 1 jun. 2017.

ARO, N.; PAKULA, T.; PENTTILÄ, M. Transcriptional regulation of plant cell wall degradation by filamentous fungi. **FEMS Microbiology Reviews**, v. 29, n. 4, p. 719–739, set. 2005.

AZARPOUR, A. et al. A Review on the Drawbacks of Renewable Energy as a Promising Energy Source of the Future. **Arabian Journal for Science and Engineering**, v. 38, n. 2, p. 317–328, 5 fev. 2013.

BABAU, M. et al. Towards a Microbial Production of Fatty Acids as Precursors of Biokerosene from Glucose and Xylose. **Oil & Gas Science and Technology – Revue d'IFP Energies nouvelles**, v. 68, n. 5, p. 899–911, 24 set. 2013.

BAJWA, P. K. et al. Ethanol production from selected lignocellulosic hydrolysates by genome shuffled strains of *Scheffersomyces stipitis*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 102, n. 21, p. 9965–9969, 1 nov. 2011.

BALAT, M. Possible Methods for Hydrogen Production. Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects, v. 31, n. 1, p. 39–50, 2 dez. 2008.

BALAT, M. New biofuel production technologies. Energy Education Science and Technology Part A: Energy Science and Research, v. 22, n. 2, p. 147–161, 2009.

BALAT, M.; BALAT, H.; ÖZ, C. Progress in bioethanol processing. **Progress in Energy** and Combustion Science, v. 34, n. 5, p. 551–573, 1 out. 2008.

BALLESTEROS, L. F.; TEIXEIRA, J. A.; MUSSATTO, S. I. Chemical, Functional, and Structural Properties of Spent Coffee Grounds and Coffee Silverskin. Food and Bioprocess Technology, v. 7, n. 12, p. 3493–3503, 20 dez. 2014.

BENT, R. D.; ORR, L.; BAKER, R. Energy: science, policy, and the pursuit of sustainability. **Choice Reviews Online**, v. 40, n. 04, p. 40-2188-40–2188, 1 dez. 2002.

BETTIGA, M. et al. Arabinose and xylose fermentation by recombinant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* expressing a fungal pentose utilization pathway. **Microbial Cell Factories**, v. 8, n. 1, p. 40, 24 jul. 2009.

BIAN, J. et al. Isolation of hemicelluloses from sugarcane bagasse at different temperatures: Structure and properties. **Carbohydrate Polymers**, v. 88, n. 2, p. 638–645, 2 abr. 2012.

BILGILI, F.; KOÇAK, E.; BULUT, Ü. The dynamic impact of renewable energy consumption on CO 2 emissions: A revisited Environmental Kuznets Curve approach. **Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews**, v. 54, p. 838–845, 1 fev. 2016.

BÔAS, S. G. V.; ESPOSITO, E. Bioconversão do bagaço de maçã. **Biotecnologia Ciência e Desenvolvimento**, v. 3, n. 14, p. 38–42, 2000.

BOURBONNAIS, R.; PAICE, M. G. Veratryl alcohol oxidases from the lignin-degrading basidiomycete *Pleurotus sajor-caju*. **The Biochemical journal**, v. 255, n. 2, p. 445–50, 15 out. 1988.

BRANDT, A. et al. Deconstruction of lignocellulosic biomass with ionic liquids. **Green Chemistry**, v. 15, n. 3, p. 550, 25 fev. 2013.

BRAT, D.; BOLES, E. Isobutanol production from D-xylose by recombinant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. **FEMS yeast research**, v. 13, n. 2, p. 241–4, 1 mar. 2013.

BROWN, M. E.; CHANG, M. C. Y. Exploring bacterial lignin degradation. **Current opinion** in chemical biology, v. 19, n. 1, p. 1–7, abr. 2014.

CARVALHEIRO, F.; DUARTE, L. C.; GÍRIO, F. M. Hemicellulose biorefineries: A review on biomass pretreatments. **Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research**, v. 67, n. 11, p. 849–864, 2008.

CARVALHO, W. et al. Use of Immobilized Candida Yeast Cells for Xylitol Production from Sugarcane Bagasse Hydrolysate. **Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology**, v. 98–100, n. 1–9, p. 489–496, 2002.

CARVALHO, W. et al. Xylitol production from sugarcane bagasse hydrolysate. Biochemical

Engineering Journal, v. 25, n. 1, p. 25–31, ago. 2005.

CASPETA, L.; CASTILLO, T.; NIELSEN, J. Modifying Yeast Tolerance to Inhibitory Conditions of Ethanol Production Processes. **Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology**, v. 3, n. NOV, p. 184, 11 nov. 2015.

CHANDEL, A. K.; SINGH, O. V.; VENKATESWAR RAO, L. Biotechnological Applications of Hemicellulosic Derived Sugars: State-of-the-Art. In: **Sustainable Biotechnology**. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2010. p. 63–81.

CHANDRAKANT, P.; BISARIA, V. S. Simultaneous bioconversion of cellulose and hemicellulose to ethanol. **Critical reviews in biotechnology**, v. 18, n. 4, p. 295–331, 29 jan. 1998.

CHEN, T.; ZHU, N.; XIA, H. Aerobic production of succinate from arabinose by metabolically engineered *Corynebacterium glutamicum*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 151, p. 411–414, 1 jan. 2014.

CHEN, X. et al. Release of Polyphenols Is the Major Factor Influencing the Bioconversion of Rice Straw to Lactic Acid. **Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology**, v. 183, n. 3, p. 685–698, 27 nov. 2017.

CHHEDA, J. N.; ROMÁN-LESHKOV, Y.; DUMESIC, J. A. Production of 5hydroxymethylfurfural and furfural by dehydration of biomass-derived mono- and polysaccharides. **Green Chem.**, v. 9, n. 4, p. 342–350, 1 abr. 2007.

COLA, P. et al. Differential effects of major inhibitory compounds from sugarcane-based lignocellulosic hydrolysates on the physiology of yeast strains and lactic acid bacteria. **Biotechnology letters**, v. 42, n. 4, p. 571–582, abr. 2020.

COMMITTEE, T. E. U. **The EU's Target for Renewable Energy: 20% by 2020**. London: [s.n.]. Disponível em: <https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld200708/ldselect/ldeucom/175/175.pdf>. Acesso em: 11 ago. 2021.

CONDE, A. et al. Transporters, channels, or simple diffusion? Dogmas, atypical roles and complexity in transport systems. **The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology**, v. 42, n. 6, p. 857–68, 1 jun. 2010.

CUNHA-PEREIRA, F. DA et al. Conversion of sugars present in rice hull hydrolysates into ethanol by *Spathaspora arborariae*, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, and their co-fermentations. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 102, n. 5, p. 4218–4225, 1 mar. 2011.

DANON, B.; VAN DER AA, L.; DE JONG, W. Furfural degradation in a dilute acidic and saline solution in the presence of glucose. **Carbohydrate Research**, v. 375, p. 145–152, jun. 2013.

DASGUPTA, D. et al. Lignocellulosic sugar management for xylitol and ethanol fermentation with multiple cell recycling by *Kluyveromyces marxianus* IIPE453. **Microbiological research**, v. 200, p. 64–72, 1 jul. 2017.

DE FRAITURE, C.; GIORDANO, M.; LIAO, Y. Biofuels and implications for agricultural

water use: blue impacts of green energy. Water Policy, v. 10, n. S1, p. 67-81, 1 mar. 2008.

DEMIRBAS, A. Bio-fuels from Agricutural Residues. Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects, v. 30, n. 2, p. 101–109, 29 nov. 2007.

DEMIRBAS, A. New liquid biofuels from vegetable oils via catalytic pyrolysis. **Energy Education Science and Technology**, v. 21, n. 1–2, p. 1–59, 2008a.

DEMIRBAS, A. Partial Hydrogenation Effect of Moisture Contents on the Combustion Oils from Biomass Pyrolysis. Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects, v. 30, n. 6, p. 508–515, 29 jan. 2008b.

DEMIRBAS, A. Biofuels sources, biofuel policy, biofuel economy and global biofuel projections. **Energy Conversion and Management**, v. 49, n. 8, p. 2106–2116, ago. 2008c.

DEMIRBAS, A. Present and Future Transportation Fuels. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15567030701258519, v. 30, n. 16, p. 1473–1483, out. 2008d.

DEMIRBAS, A. Progress and recent trends in biodiesel fuels. Energy Conversion and Management, v. 50, n. 1, p. 14–34, 1 jan. 2009a.

DEMIRBAS, A. Political, economic and environmental impacts of biofuels: A review. **Applied Energy**, v. 86, n. SUPPL. 1, p. S108–S117, 1 nov. 2009b.

DEMIRBAS, A.; DINCER, K. Sustainable Green Diesel: A Futuristic View. **Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects**, v. 30, n. 13, p. 1233– 1241, 22 maio 2008.

DEMIRBAS, B. Biofuels for internal combustion engines. Energy Education Science and Technology Part A: Energy Science and Research, v. 22, n. 2, p. 117–132, 2009c.

DESA, U. **World population prospects: The 2012 revision**. Disponível em: <<u>https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/publications/world-population-prospects-the-2012-revision.html></u>. Acesso em: 18 maio. 2021.

DIEN, B. S.; COTTA, M. A.; JEFFRIES, T. W. Bacteria engineered for fuel ethanol production: current status. **Applied microbiology and biotechnology**, v. 63, n. 3, p. 258–66, 1 dez. 2003.

DU, B. et al. Effect of varying feedstock-pretreatment chemistry combinations on the formation and accumulation of potentially inhibitory degradation products in biomass hydrolysates. **Biotechnology and Bioengineering**, v. 107, n. 3, p. 430–440, 15 out. 2010.

DU, J.; LI, S.; ZHAO, H. Discovery and characterization of novel d-xylose-specific transporters from *Neurospora crassa* and *Pichia stipitis*. **Molecular bioSystems**, v. 6, n. 11, p. 2150–6, nov. 2010.

EIA. Hydropower made up 66% of Brazil's electricity generation in 2020 - U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). Disponível em: <a href="https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=49436">https://www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=49436</a>>. Acesso em: 30 dez. 2021.

EL-TAYEB, T. S. et al. Effect of acid hydrolysis and fungal biotreatment on agro-industrial

wastes for obtainment of free sugars for bioethanol production. **Brazilian journal of microbiology : [publication of the Brazilian Society for Microbiology]**, v. 43, n. 4, p. 1523–35, out. 2012.

EVANS, A.; STREZOV, V.; EVANS, T. J. Assessment of sustainability indicators for renewable energy technologies. **Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews**, v. 13, n. 5, p. 1082–1088, jun. 2009.

FAN, C. et al. Efficient ethanol production from corncob residues by repeated fermentation of an adapted yeast. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 136, p. 309–315, 1 maio 2013.

FARIA, N. T. et al. Production of glycolipid biosurfactants, mannosylerythritol lipids, from pentoses and d-glucose/d-xylose mixtures by *Pseudozyma* yeast strains. **Process Biochemistry**, v. 49, n. 11, p. 1790–1799, 1 nov. 2014.

FENGEL, D.; WEGENER, G. **Wood: chemistry, ultrastructure, reactions**. [s.l.] Walter de Gruyter, 1989.

FERREIRA, D. et al. XYLH encodes a xylose/H<sup>+</sup> symporter from the highly related yeast species *Debaryomyces fabryi* and *Debaryomyces hansenii*. **FEMS yeast research**, v. 13, n. 7, p. 585–96, nov. 2013.

GAO, D. et al. Microbial lipid production from xylose by *Mortierella isabellina*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 133, p. 315–321, 1 abr. 2013.

GAO, M.; PLOESSL, D.; SHAO, Z. Enhancing the Co-utilization of Biomass-Derived Mixed Sugars by Yeasts. Frontiers in Microbiology, v. 9, n. JAN, p. 1–21, 22 jan. 2019.

GERLAND, P. et al. World population stabilization unlikely this century. **Science**, v. 346, n. 6206, p. 234–237, 10 out. 2014.

GÍRIO, F. . et al. Polyols production during single and mixed substrate fermentations in *Debaryomyces hansenii*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 71, n. 3, p. 245–251, 1 fev. 2000.

GÍRIO, F. M. et al. Hemicelluloses for fuel ethanol: A review. **Bioresource technology**, v. 101, n. 13, p. 4775–800, jul. 2010.

GLASSLEY, W. E. Geothermal Energy. [s.l.] CRC Press, 2010.

GLOBAL FOOTPRINT NETWORK. Ecological Footprint - Global Footprint Network. Disponível em: <a href="https://www.footprintnetwork.org/our-work/ecological-footprint/">https://www.footprintnetwork.org/our-work/ecological-footprint/</a>. Acesso em: 29 dez. 2021.

GONG, C.-S. et al. Production of Ethanol from d-Xylose by Using d-Xylose Isomerase and Yeasts. **Applied and Environmental Microbiology**, v. 41, n. 2, p. 430–436, fev. 1981.

GUAMÁN-BURNEO, M. C. et al. Xylitol production by yeasts isolated from rotting wood in the Galápagos Islands, Ecuador, and description of *Cyberlindnera galapagoensis* f.a., sp. nov. **Antonie van Leeuwenhoek**, v. 108, n. 4, p. 919–931, 29 out. 2015.

HADI, S. M.; SHAHABUDDIN; REHMAN, A. Specificity of the interaction of furfural with DNA. **Mutation Research Letters**, v. 225, n. 3, p. 101–106, mar. 1989.

HAHN-HÄGERDAL, B. et al. Bio-ethanol – the fuel of tomorrow from the residues of today. **Trends in Biotechnology**, v. 24, n. 12, p. 549–556, 1 dez. 2006.

HECTOR, R. E. et al. Growth and fermentation of D-xylose by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* expressing a novel D-xylose isomerase originating from the bacterium *Prevotella ruminicola* TC2-24. **Biotechnology for Biofuels**, v. 6, n. 1, p. 84, 30 maio 2013.

HENNENBERG, K. J. et al. The Power of Bioenergy-Related Standards to Protect Biodiversity. **Conservation Biology**, v. 24, n. 2, p. 412–423, 1 abr. 2010.

HICKERT, L. R. et al. Fermentation kinetics of acid–enzymatic soybean hull hydrolysate in immobilized-cell bioreactors of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *Candida shehatae*, *Spathaspora arborariae*, and their co-cultivations. **Biochemical Engineering Journal**, v. 88, p. 61–67, 15 jul. 2014.

HILL, J. et al. Environmental, economic, and energetic costs and benefits of biodiesel and ethanol biofuels. **Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America**, v. 103, n. 30, p. 11206–10, 25 jul. 2006.

HONNERY, D.; MORIARTY, P. Liquid fuels from woody biomass. International Journal of Global Energy Issues, v. 27, n. 2, p. 103, 2007.

IBRAHEEM, O.; NDIMBA, B. K. Molecular Adaptation Mechanisms Employed by Ethanologenic Bacteria in Response to Lignocellulose-derived Inhibitory Compounds. **International Journal of Biological Sciences**, v. 9, n. 6, p. 598–612, 28 jun. 2013.

INTERNATIONAL ENERGY AGENCY. **Trends In Photovoltaic Applications 2013Survey report of selected IEA countries between 1992 and 2012**. [s.l: s.n.]. Disponível em: < https://iea-pvps.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/FINAL\_TRENDS\_v1.02.pdf>. Acesso em: 11 ago. 2021.

ISIKGOR, F. H.; BECER, C. R. Lignocellulosic biomass: a sustainable platform for the production of bio-based chemicals and polymers. **Polymer Chemistry**, v. 6, n. 25, p. 4497–4559, 16 jun. 2015.

IVERSON, A. et al. Increasing reducing power output (NADH) of glucose catabolism for reduction of xylose to xylitol by genetically engineered *Escherichia coli* AI05. **World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology**, v. 29, n. 7, p. 1225–1232, 23 jul. 2013.

JACKSON, S.; NICOLSON, S. W. Xylose as a nectar sugar: from biochemistry to ecology. **Comparative biochemistry and physiology. Part B, Biochemistry & molecular biology**, v. 131, n. 4, p. 613–20, 1 abr. 2002.

JEFFRIES, T. W. Conversion of xylose to ethanol under aerobic conditions by *Candida tropicalis*. **Biotechnology Letters**, v. 3, n. 5, p. 213–218, maio 1981.

JEFFRIES, T. W. Engineering yeasts for xylose metabolism. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, v. 17, n. 3, p. 320–326, 1 jun. 2006.

JEFFRIES, T. W.; JIN, Y.-S. Metabolic engineering for improved fermentation of pentoses by yeasts. **Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology**, v. 63, n. 5, p. 495–509, 1 maio 2004.

JONKER, J. G. G. et al. Outlook for ethanol production costs in Brazil up to 2030, for different biomass crops and industrial technologies. **Applied Energy**, v. 147, p. 593–610, jun. 2015.

JÖNSSON, L. J. et al. Detoxification of wood hydrolysates with laccase and peroxidase from the white-rot fungus *Trametes versicolor*. **Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology**, v. 49, n. 6, p. 691–697, 25 jun. 1998.

JÖNSSON, L. J.; ALRIKSSON, B.; NILVEBRANT, N.-O. Bioconversion of lignocellulose: inhibitors and detoxification. **Biotechnology for Biofuels**, v. 6, n. 1, p. 16, 28 dez. 2013.

JÖNSSON, L. J.; MARTÍN, C. Pretreatment of lignocellulose: Formation of inhibitory byproducts and strategies for minimizing their effects. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 199, p. 103– 112, 1 jan. 2016.

KAMILOGLU, S. et al. Guidelines for cell viability assays. **Food Frontiers**, v. 1, n. 3, p. 332–349, 16 set. 2020.

KAYGUSUZ, K. Hydropower and the World's Energy Future. **Energy Sources**, v. 26, n. 3, p. 215–224, fev. 2004.

KEWELOH, H.; WEYRAUCH, G.; REHM, H. J. Phenol-induced membrane changes in free and immobilized *Escherichia coli*. Applied microbiology and biotechnology, v. 33, n. 1, p. 66–71, abr. 1990.

KILIAN, S. G.; VAN UDEN, N. Transport of xylose and glucose in the xylose-fermenting yeast *Pichia stipitis*. **Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology**, v. 27, n. 5–6, p. 545–548, fev. 1988.

KIM, E. S. et al. Functional characterization of a bacterial expansin from *Bacillus subtilis* for enhanced enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose. **Biotechnology and bioengineering**, v. 102, n. 5, p. 1342–53, 1 abr. 2009.

KIM, S.-J. et al. Production of 2,3-butanediol from xylose by engineered *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Journal of biotechnology, v. 192 Pt B, p. 376–82, 20 dez. 2014.

KNOX, J. Revealing the structural and functional diversity of plant cell walls. **Current Opinion in Plant Biology**, v. 11, n. 3, p. 308–313, jun. 2008.

KOMESU, A. et al. Xylose fermentation to bioethanol production using genetic engineering microorganisms. In: Genetic and Metabolic Engineering for Improved Biofuel Production from Lignocellulosic Biomass. [s.l.] Elsevier, 2020. p. 143–154.

KONG, L. et al. Hydrogen Production from Biomass Wastes by Hydrothermal Gasification. **Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects**, v. 30, n. 13, p. 1166–1178, 22 maio 2008.

KUMAR, M. Social, Economic, and Environmental Impacts of Renewable Energy Resources. In: Wind Solar Hybrid Renewable Energy System. [s.l.] IntechOpen, 2020. v. 32p. 137–144.

KUMAR, S. et al. Improved levulinic acid production from agri-residue biomass in biphasic

solvent system through synergistic catalytic effect of acid and products. **Bioresource technology**, v. 251, p. 143–150, 1 mar. 2018a.

KUMAR, V. et al. Bioconversion of pentose sugars to value added chemicals and fuels: Recent trends, challenges and possibilities. **Bioresource technology**, v. 269, p. 443–451, 1 dez. 2018b.

KUNDU, C.; LEE, J.-W. Bioethanol production from detoxified hydrolysate and the characterization of oxalic acid pretreated Eucalyptus (*Eucalyptus globulus*) biomass. **Industrial Crops and Products**, v. 83, p. 322–328, 1 maio 2016.

KURTZMAN, C. P. *Pichia* E.C. Hansen emend. Kurtzman. In: **The Yeasts**. [s.l.] Elsevier, 1998. p. 273–352.

KUYPER, M. et al. Metabolic engineering of a xylose-isomerase-expressing *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain for rapid anaerobic xylose fermentation. **FEMS yeast research**, v. 5, n. 4–5, p. 399–409, 1 fev. 2005.

LARSSON, S. et al. Comparison of Different Methods for the Detoxification of Lignocellulose Hydrolyzates of Spruce. In: **Twentieth Symposium on Biotechnology for Fuels and Chemicals**. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press, 1999. v. 77p. 91–103.

LEANDRO, M. J.; SPENCER-MARTINS, I.; GONÇALVES, P. The expression in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* of a glucose/xylose symporter from *Candida intermedia* is affected by the presence of a glucose/xylose facilitator. **Microbiology (Reading, England)**, v. 154, n. Pt 6, p. 1646–1655, 1 jun. 2008.

LEE, J.-E. et al. Innovative methods to generate clean sugar stream from biomass feedstocks for efficient fermentation. **Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering**, v. 40, n. 4, p. 633–641, abr. 2017.

LEE, R. A.; LAVOIE, J.-M. From first- to third-generation biofuels: Challenges of producing a commodity from a biomass of increasing complexity. **Animal Frontiers**, v. 3, n. 2, p. 6–11, 1 abr. 2013.

LEE, H. V.; HAMID, S. B. A.; ZAIN, S. K. Conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to nanocellulose: structure and chemical process. **The Scientific World Journal**, v. 2014, p. 631013, 2014.

LEE, W.-J. et al. Kinetic studies on glucose and xylose transport in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. **Applied microbiology and biotechnology**, v. 60, n. 1–2, p. 186–91, 1 out. 2002.

LI, C. et al. Ozonolysis pretreatment of maize stover: the interactive effect of sample particle size and moisture on ozonolysis process. **Bioresource technology**, v. 183, p. 240–7, 17 maio 2015.

LI, C. Y. et al. High pressure and high temperature in situ X-ray diffraction study on the structural stability of tantalum disilicide. **Solid State Communications**, v. 157, p. 1–5, 1 mar. 2013.

LIGUORI, R.; AMORE, A.; FARACO, V. Waste valorization by biotechnological conversion into added value products. **Applied microbiology and biotechnology**, v. 97, n. 14, p. 6129–

47, 11 jul. 2013.

LIN, R. et al. Inhibitory effects of furan derivatives and phenolic compounds on dark hydrogen fermentation. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 196, p. 250–255, 1 nov. 2015.

LIN, X. et al. Enzymatic pulping of lignocellulosic biomass. **Industrial Crops and Products**, v. 120, p. 16–24, 15 set. 2018.

LUO, Q. et al. Alkali extraction and physicochemical characterization of hemicelluloses from young bamboo (*Phyllostachys pubescens* Mazel). **BioResources**, v. 7, n. 4, p. 5817–5828, 2012.

LYU, H. et al. Kinetic studies of the strengthening effect on liquid hot water pretreatments by organic acids. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 235, p. 193–201, 1 jul. 2017.

MAGALHÃES JÚNIOR, A. I. et al. Challenges in the production of second-generation organic acids (potential monomers for application in biopolymers). **Biomass and Bioenergy**, v. 149, p. 106092, 1 jun. 2021.

MAKARIEVA, A. M.; GORSHKOV, V. G.; LI, B.-L. Energy budget of the biosphere and civilization: Rethinking environmental security of global renewable and non-renewable resources. **Ecological Complexity**, v. 5, n. 4, p. 281–288, dez. 2008.

MARTÍN, C. et al. Comparison of the Fermentability of Enzymatic Hydrolyzates of Sugarcane Bagasse Pretreated by Steam Explosion Using Different Impregnating Agents. **Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology**, v. 98–100, n. 1–9, p. 699–716, 2002.

MARTÍN, C. et al. Study of the phenolic compounds formed during pretreatment of sugarcane bagasse by wet oxidation and steam explosion. **Holzforschung**, v. 61, n. 5, p. 483–487, 1 ago. 2007.

MARTIN, J. G. P. et al. Antimicrobial potential and chemical composition of agro-industrial wastes. **Journal of Natural Products**, v. 5, p. 27–36, 2012.

MARTINS, G. M. **Isolamento e seleção de leveduras fermentadoras de xilose**. Dissertação (Mestrado em Microbiologia). Instituto de Biociências, Letras e Ciências Exatas da Universidade Estadual Paulista "Júlio de Mesquita Filho". São José do Rio Preto. 104p. 2011.

MARTINS, G. M. et al. The isolation of pentose-assimilating yeasts and their xylose fermentation potential. **Brazilian journal of microbiology : [publication of the Brazilian Society for Microbiology]**, v. 49, n. 1, p. 162–168, 1 jan. 2018.

MATHEWS, S. L.; PAWLAK, J.; GRUNDEN, A. M. Bacterial biodegradation and bioconversion of industrial lignocellulosic streams. **Applied microbiology and biotechnology**, v. 99, n. 7, p. 2939–54, 27 abr. 2015.

MATSUSHIKA, A.; SAWAYAMA, S. Effect of initial cell concentration on ethanol production by flocculent *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* with xylose-fermenting ability. **Applied biochemistry and biotechnology**, v. 162, n. 7, p. 1952–60, 30 nov. 2010.

MCMILLAN, J. D. Xylose Fermentation to Ethanol : A Review. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, n. January, p. 45, 1 jan. 1993.

MILLER G.L. Use of Dinitrosalicylic Acid Reagent for Determination of Reducing Sugar. Analytical chemistry, v. 31, n. 3, p. 426–428, 1959.

MITCHELL, V. D.; TAYLOR, C. M.; BAUER, S. Comprehensive Analysis of Monomeric Phenolics in Dilute Acid Plant Hydrolysates. **BioEnergy Research**, v. 7, n. 2, p. 654–669, 26 jun. 2014.

MOLLAPOUR, M.; PIPER, P. W. Hog1 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Phosphorylation Targets the Yeast Fps1 Aquaglyceroporin for Endocytosis, Thereby Rendering Cells Resistant to Acetic Acid. **Molecular and Cellular Biology**, v. 27, n. 18, p. 6446–6456, 15 set. 2007.

MONDALA, A. et al. Enhanced microbial oil production by activated sludge microorganisms via co-fermentation of glucose and xylose. **AIChE Journal**, v. 59, n. 11, p. 4036–4044, 1 nov. 2013.

MONTEIRO, D. A. Estudo do Transporte e Assimilação de Pentoses, Crescimento das Células e Detecção da Produção de Ácidos Orgânicos por Leveduras. Tese (Doutorado em Microbiologia) Instituto de Biociências, Letras e Ciências Exatas da Universidade Estadual Paulista "Júlio de Mesquita Filho". São José do Rio Preto. 107p. 2020.

MOON, J. et al. New genotypes of industrial yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* engineered with YXI and heterologous xylose transporters improve xylose utilization and ethanol production. **Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology**, v. 2, n. 3, p. 247–254, 1 jul. 2013.

MORGAN, H. M. et al. A review of catalytic microwave pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass for value-added fuel and chemicals. **Bioresource technology**, v. 230, p. 112–121, 1 abr. 2017.

MORI, T. et al. Multidimensional high-resolution magic angle spinning and solution-state NMR characterization of 13 C-labeled plant metabolites and lignocellulose. **Scientific Reports**, v. 5, n. 1, p. 11848, 6 dez. 2015.

MORIARTY, P.; HONNERY, D. Rise and fall of the carbon civilisation: Resolving global environmental and resource problems. **Green Energy and Technology**, Green Energy and Technology. v. 37, 2011.

MORIARTY, P.; HONNERY, D. What is the global potential for renewable energy? **Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews**, v. 16, n. 1, p. 244–252, jan. 2012.

MOTTE, J.-C. et al. Total solids content: a key parameter of metabolic pathways in dry anaerobic digestion. **Biotechnology for Biofuels**, v. 6, n. 1, p. 164, 22 dez. 2013.

MURAKAMI, C. J. et al. Composition and acidification of the culture medium influences chronological aging similarly in vineyard and laboratory yeast. **Plos one**, v. 6, n. 9, p. e24530, 19 set. 2011.

MURALI, N.; SRINIVAS, K.; AHRING, B. K. Biochemical Production and Separation of Carboxylic Acids for Biorefinery Applications. **Fermentation**, v. 3, n. 2, p. 22, 19 maio 2017.

MURUGAN, S. et al. Production of Xylanase from *Arthrobacter* sp. MTCC 6915 Using Saw Dust As Substrate under Solid State Fermentation. **Enzyme Research**, v. 2011, n. 1, p. 1–7, 2 out. 2011.

MUSSATTO, S. I. et al. Technological trends, global market, and challenges of bio-ethanol production. **Biotechnology Advances**, v. 28, n. 6, p. 817–830, 1 nov. 2010.

MUSSATTO, S.; TEIXEIRA, J. Lignocellulose as raw material in fermentation processes. **applied Microbiology an Microbial Biotechnology**, v. 2, p. 897–907, 2010.

NANDA, S. et al. An assessment on the sustainability of lignocellulosic biomass for biorefining. **Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews**, v. 50, p. 925–941, 1 out. 2015.

NIE, S. et al. Enzymatic and cold alkaline pretreatments of sugarcane bagasse pulp to produce cellulose nanofibrils using a mechanical method. **Industrial Crops and Products**, v. 124, p. 435–441, 15 nov. 2018.

OLIET, M. et al. Solvent effects in autocatalyzed alcohol–water pulping. Chemical Engineering Journal, v. 87, n. 2, p. 157–162, 28 jun. 2002.

PACHECO, T. F. et al. Enhanced Tolerance of *Spathaspora passalidarum* to Sugarcane Bagasse Hydrolysate for Ethanol Production from Xylose. **Applied biochemistry and biotechnology**, v. 193, n. 7, p. 2182–2197, 1 jul. 2021.

PAGNOCCA, F. C. et al. Yeasts and filamentous fungi carried by the gynes of leaf-cutting ants. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, v. 94, n. 4, p. 517–26, nov. 2008.

PAMPULHA, M. E.; LOUREIRO-DIAS, M. C. Activity of glycolytic enzymes of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in the presence of acetic acid. **Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology**, v. 34, n. 3, p. 375–380, dez. 1990.

PAMPULHA, M. E.; LOUREIRO-DIAS, M. C. Energetics of the effect of acetic acid on growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. **FEMS Microbiology Letters**, v. 184, n. 1, p. 69–72, 1 mar. 2000.

PAN, X. et al. Omics-based approaches reveal phospholipids remodeling of *Rhizopus oryzae* responding to furfural stress for fumaric acid-production from xylose. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 222, p. 24–32, 1 dez. 2016.

PARK, S.-E. et al. Expression of aldehyde dehydrogenase 6 reduces inhibitory effect of furan derivatives on cell growth and ethanol production in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 102, n. 10, p. 6033–6038, 1 maio 2011.

PATTERSON, M. G. What is energy efficiency? **Energy Policy**, v. 24, n. 5, p. 377–390, 1 maio 1996.

PEREIRA, R. S.; MUSSATTO, S. I.; ROBERTO, I. C. Inhibitory action of toxic compounds present in lignocellulosic hydrolysates on xylose to xylitol bioconversion by *Candida guilliermondii*. Journal of industrial microbiology & biotechnology, v. 38, n. 1, p. 71–8, 5 jan. 2011.

PERIYASAMY, K. et al. Bioconversion of Lignocellulosic Biomass to Fermentable Sugars by Immobilized Magnetic Cellulolytic Enzyme Cocktails. Langmuir, v. 34, n. 22, p. 6546–6555, 5 jun. 2018.

POLETTO, M.; JUNIOR, H. L. O. Cellulose - Fundamental Aspects and Current Trends.

[s.l.] InTech, 2015.

**Population Summit of the World's Scientific Academies**. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press, 1993.

REHMAN, S.; GHORI, S. G. Spatial estimation of global solar radiation using geostatistics. **Renewable Energy**, v. 21, n. 3–4, p. 583–605, nov. 2000.

REHMAN, S.; HALAWANI, T. O. Global solar radiation estimation. **Renewable Energy**, v. 12, n. 4, p. 369–385, 1 dez. 1997.

REN, D. Effects of global warming on wind energy availability. Journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy, v. 2, n. 5, p. 052301, 1 set. 2010.

REN21. **Conference Renewables 2019 Global Status Report**. [s.l: s.n.]. Disponível em: <a href="https://repository.usp.ac.fj/11648/1/gsr\_2019\_full\_report\_en.pdf">https://repository.usp.ac.fj/11648/1/gsr\_2019\_full\_report\_en.pdf</a>>.

RIVAS, B. et al. Submerged Citric Acid Fermentation on Orange Peel Autohydrolysate. **Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry**, v. 56, n. 7, p. 2380–2387, 9 abr. 2008.

ROBAK, K.; BALCEREK, M. Review of Second-Generation Bioethanol Production from Residual Biomass. **Food Technology and Biotechnology**, v. 56, n. 2, p. 174–187, 1 jun. 2018.

ROBERT, V.; SMITH, M. T. *Zygoascus* M.Th. Smith (1986). In: **The Yeasts**. [s.l.] Elsevier, 2011. v. 2p. 931–936.

SADH, P. K.; DUHAN, S.; DUHAN, J. S. Agro-industrial wastes and their utilization using solid state fermentation: a review. **Bioresources and Bioprocessing**, v. 5, n. 1, p. 1, 2 dez. 2018.

SALOHEIMO, A. et al. Xylose transport studies with xylose-utilizing *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains expressing heterologous and homologous permeases. **Applied microbiology and biotechnology**, v. 74, n. 5, p. 1041–52, 1 abr. 2007.

SANTOS, F. A. et al. Potencial da palha de cana-de-açúcar para produção de etanol. **Química Nova**, v. 35, n. 5, p. 1004–1010, 2012.

SCHNEIDER, H. et al. Conversion of D-xylose into ethanol by the yeast *Pachysolen tannophilus*. **Biotechnology Letters**, v. 3, n. 2, p. 89–92, fev. 1981.

SCHUBERT, R. Future Bioenergy and Sustainable Land Use. 1st. ed. London: Routledge, 2009.

SERRANO-RUIZ, J. C.; LUQUE, R.; SEPÚLVEDA-ESCRIBANO, A. Transformations of biomass-derived platform molecules: from high added-value chemicals to fuels via aqueous-phase processing. **Chemical Society Reviews**, v. 40, n. 11, p. 5266, 17 out. 2011.

SHARMA, N. K. et al. Xylose transport in yeast for lignocellulosic ethanol production: Current status. **Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering**, v. 125, n. 3, p. 259–267, 1 mar. 2018. SILVA, R. R. et al. Improved Utility of Pentoses from Lignocellulolytic Hydrolysate: Challenges and Perspectives for Enabling *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, v. 67, n. 21, p. 5919–5921, 29 maio 2019.

SILVA, R. R. et al. Prospecting for l-arabinose/d-xylose symporters from *Pichia* guilliermondii and Aureobasidium leucospermi. **Brazilian Journal of Microbiology**, v. 51, n. 1, p. 145–150, 4 mar. 2020.

SINDHU, R. et al. Pentose-rich hydrolysate from acid pretreated rice straw as a carbon source for the production of poly-3-hydroxybutyrate. **Biochemical Engineering Journal**, v. 78, p. 67–72, 15 set. 2013.

SITEPU, I. et al. Carbon source utilization and inhibitor tolerance of 45 oleaginous yeast species. **Journal of industrial microbiology & biotechnology**, v. 41, n. 7, p. 1061–70, jul. 2014.

SLININGER, P. J. et al. Conversion of D-xylose to ethanol by the yeast *Pachysolen tannophilus*. **Biotechnology and Bioengineering**, v. 24, n. 2, p. 371–384, 1 fev. 1982.

SOMERVILLE, C. Cellulose Synthesis in Higher Plants. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, v. 22, n. 1, p. 53–78, 9 nov. 2006.

SOMERVILLE, C. et al. Feedstocks for Lignocellulosic Biofuels. Science, v. 329, n. 5993, p. 790–792, 13 ago. 2010.

SOREK, N. et al. The Implications of Lignocellulosic Biomass Chemical Composition for the Production of Advanced Biofuels. **BioScience**, v. 64, n. 3, p. 192–201, 1 mar. 2014.

SOUZA, O.; SOUZA, M. T. C.; SANTOS, I. E. Tratamento Químico de Resíduos Agrícolas com Solução de Uréia na Alimentação de Ruminantes. **Revista Capril Virtual**, 2007. Disponível em: <a href="https://www.caprilvirtual.com.br/artigos\_pdf.php?recordID=96">https://www.caprilvirtual.com.br/artigos\_pdf.php?recordID=96</a>>. Acesso em: 12 set. 2021

SOVACOOL, B. K.; BULAN, L. C. Behind an ambitious megaproject in Asia: The history and implications of the Bakun hydroelectric dam in Borneo. **Energy Policy**, v. 39, n. 9, p. 4842–4859, 1 set. 2011.

STELTE, W. et al. A study of bonding and failure mechanisms in fuel pellets from different biomass resources. **Biomass and Bioenergy**, v. 35, n. 2, p. 910–918, 1 fev. 2011.

TAARNING, E. et al. Zeolite-catalyzed biomass conversion to fuels and chemicals. **Energy Environ. Sci.**, v. 4, n. 3, p. 793–804, 1 mar. 2011.

TAIZ, L. et al. **Plant Physiology and Development (Sixth Edition)**. Sixth Edit ed. [s.l.] Sinauer Associates Inc., 2014.

TERRONE, C. C. α-Arabinofuranosidase de *Aspergillus hortai* CRM 1919: produção, purificação, caracterização e aplicação na hidrólise de hemiceluloses de resíduos agroindustriais. Tese (Doutorado em Ciências Biológicas). Instituto de Biociências, Universidade Estadual Paulista "Júlio de Mesquita Filho". Rio Claro. 124p. 2017.

THE WORLD FOOD PRIZE. THE GREATEST CHALLENGE IN HUMAN HISTORY

## THE WORLD FOOD PRIZE. IOWA, USA: [s.n.]. Disponível em:

<http://www.worldfoodprize.org/documents/filelibrary/images/borlaug\_dialogue/2014/Annou ncement\_TriFold\_Single\_PagesSm\_26A30C1B00D93.pdf>. Acesso em: 20 maio. 2021.

TILMAN, D. et al. Energy. Beneficial biofuels--the food, energy, and environment trilemma. **Science**, v. 325, n. 5938, p. 270–1, 17 jul. 2009.

TÜRKOĞLU, S. P.; KARDOĞAN, P. S. Ö. The Role and Importance of Energy Efficiency for Sustainable Development of the Countries. In: Lecture Notes in Civil Engineering. [s.l: s.n.]. v. 7p. 53–60.

ULBRICHT, R. A review of 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) in parenteral solutions. **Fundamental and Applied Toxicology**, v. 4, n. 5, p. 843–853, 1 out. 1984.

UNITED NATIONS NEW YORK, 2019. World population prospects 2019 Department of Economic and Social Affairs. World Population Prospects 2019. [s.l: s.n.]. Disponível em: <a href="https://population.un.org/wpp/Publications/Files/WPP2019\_Highlights.pdf">https://population.un.org/wpp/Publications/Files/WPP2019\_Highlights.pdf</a>>. Acesso em: 20 maio. 2021.

VAN DER POL, E. C. et al. By-products resulting from lignocellulose pretreatment and their inhibitory effect on fermentations for (bio)chemicals and fuels. **Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology**, v. 98, n. 23, p. 9579–9593, 5 dez. 2014.

VAZ, J. E. Avaliação das condições de cultivo para assimilação de xilose e secreção de enzimas e peptídeos pelas leveduras isoladas do ambiente. Dissertação (Mestrado em Microbiologia). Instituto de Biociências, Letras e Ciências Exatas, Universidade Estadual Paulista "Júlio de Mesquita Filho". São José do Rio Preto. 141p. 2020.

VAZ, J. E. et al. Functional properties and potential application of ethanol tolerant  $\beta$ -glucosidases from *Pichia ofunaensis* and *Trichosporon multisporum* yeasts. **3 Biotech**, v. 11, n. 11, p. 467, 21 nov. 2021.

VOGT, T. Phenylpropanoid Biosynthesis. Molecular Plant, v. 3, n. 1, p. 2–20, jan. 2010.

VORONOVSKY, A. Y. et al. Development of strains of the thermotolerant yeast *Hansenula polymorpha* capable of alcoholic fermentation of starch and xylan. **Metabolic Engineering**, v. 11, n. 4–5, p. 234–242, 1 jul. 2009.

WALIA, A. et al. Microbial xylanases and their industrial application in pulp and paper biobleaching: a review. **3 Biotech**, v. 7, n. 1, p. 11, 8 maio 2017.

WANG, S.; SUN, X.; YUAN, Q. Strategies for enhancing microbial tolerance to inhibitors for biofuel production: A review. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 258, p. 302–309, 1 jun. 2018.

WANG, X. et al. Inhibitory effects of phenolic compounds of rice straw formed by saccharification during ethanol fermentation by *Pichia stipitis*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 244, p. 1059–1067, 1 nov. 2017.

WEBB, S. R.; LEE, H. Regulation of d-xylose utilization by hexoses in pentose-fermenting yeasts. **Biotechnology Advances**, v. 8, n. 4, p. 685–697, 1 jan. 1990.

WEIERSTALL, T.; HOLLENBERG, C. P.; BOLES, E. Cloning and characterization of three

genes (SUT1-3) encoding glucose transporters of the yeast *Pichia stipitis*. **Molecular microbiology**, v. 31, n. 3, p. 871–83, 1 fev. 1999.

**Welcome to Solar Heat Europe - Solar Heat Europe**. Disponível em: <a href="http://solarheateurope.eu/welcome-to-solar-heat-europe/">http://solarheateurope.eu/welcome-to-solar-heat-europe/</a>>. Acesso em: 11 ago. 2021.

WEN, J.; ZHENG, Y.; DONGHAN, F. A review on reliability assessment for wind power. **Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews**, v. 13, n. 9, p. 2485–2494, dez. 2009.

WEN, X. et al. Exceptional hexose-fermenting ability of the xylitol-producing yeast *Candida guilliermondii* FTI 20037. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering, v. 121, n. 6, p. 631–637, 1 jun. 2016.

WIZANI, W. et al. **Preparation of xylanase by cultivating thermomyces lanuginosus dsm 5826 in a medium containing corn cobs.** US5183753A. United States Patent. 2 fev. 1993.

WORLD BANK. **World Bank Links Electricity to Poverty**, 2013. Disponível em: <<u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=9RYvSBl0BCQ></u>. Acesso em: 29 dez. 2021

YANG, B.; WYMAN, C. E. Pretreatment: the key to unlocking low-cost cellulosic ethanol. **Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining**, v. 2, n. 1, p. 26–40, jan. 2008.

YANG, S. et al. Identification of Inhibitors in Lignocellulosic Slurries and Determination of Their Effect on Hydrocarbon-Producing Microorganisms. **Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology**, v. 6, n. APR, 4 abr. 2018.

YANG, X. et al. Current states and prospects of organic waste utilization for biorefineries. **Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews**, v. 49, p. 335–349, 16 set. 2015.

YAO, R.; HOU, W.; BAO, J. Complete oxidative conversion of lignocellulose derived nonglucose sugars to sugar acids by *Gluconobacter oxydans*. **Bioresource technology**, v. 244, n. Pt 1, p. 1188–1192, 1 nov. 2017.

YAZDANIE, M.; RUTHERFORD, P. Renewable Energy in Pakistan: Policy Strengths, Challenges & the Path Forward. **Energy Economics**, 2010.

YE, L. et al. Highly efficient production of l-lactic acid from xylose by newly isolated *Bacillus coagulans* C106. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 132, p. 38–44, 1 mar. 2013.

YÜKSEL, I. Hydroelectric Power in Developing Countries. Energy Sources, Part B: Economics, Planning, and Policy, v. 4, n. 4, p. 377–386, 30 out. 2009.

ZALDIVAR, J.; MARTINEZ, A.; INGRAM, L. O. Effect of selected aldehydes on the growth and fermentation of ethanologenic *Escherichia coli*. **Biotechnology and Bioengineering**, v. 65, n. 1, p. 24–33, 5 out. 1999.

ZEB, R. et al. Causal links between renewable energy, environmental degradation and economic growth in selected SAARC countries: Progress towards green economy. **Renewable Energy**, v. 71, p. 123–132, 1 nov. 2014.

ZETTY-ARENAS, A. M. et al. Towards enhanced n-butanol production from sugarcane bagasse hemicellulosic hydrolysate: Strain screening, and the effects of sugar concentration

and butanol tolerance. Biomass and Bioenergy, v. 126, p. 190–198, 1 jul. 2019.

ZHANG, J. et al. Effects of lignin-derived phenolic compounds on xylitol production and key enzyme activities by a xylose utilizing yeast *Candida athensensis* SB18. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 121, p. 369–378, 1 out. 2012.

ZHANG, L. et al. Impacts of lignocellulose-derived inhibitors on l-lactic acid fermentation by *Rhizopus oryzae*. **Bioresource Technology**, v. 203, p. 173–180, 1 mar. 2016.

ZHAO, J. et al. Homofermentative production of optically pure L-lactic acid from xylose by genetically engineered *Escherichia coli* B. **Microbial Cell Factories**, v. 12, n. 1, p. 57, 7 dez. 2013.

ZHOU, C.-H. et al. Catalytic conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to fine chemicals and fuels. **Chemical Society Reviews**, v. 40, n. 11, p. 5588, 17 out. 2011.